Notice of Meeting

Council
A meeting of the Test Valley Borough Council will be held on
Date:

Wednesday 6 April 2022

Time:

5.30 pm

Venue:

Crosfield Hall, Broadwater Road, Romsey, Hampshire, SO51 8GL

when your attendance is required to consider the business set out in the agenda.

Head of Legal and Democratic Services

For further information or enquiries please contact:
Emma Horbury - 01264 368001
ehorbury@testvalley.gov.uk
Legal and Democratic Service
Test Valley Borough Council,
Beech Hurst, Weyhill Road,
Andover, Hampshire,
SP10 3AJ
www.testvalley.gov.uk

Public Participation Scheme
If members of the public wish to address the meeting they should notify the
Legal and Democratic Service at the Council's Beech Hurst office by noon
on the working day before the meeting.

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Council
Wednesday 6 April 2022
AGENDA
The order of these items may change as a result of members
of the public wishing to speak

1

Prayers

2

Apologies

3

Public Participation

4

Declarations of Interest

5

To approve the minutes of the meeting of the Council
held on 25 February 2022

6

Mayor's Announcements

7

To receive and adopt Committee reports

4 - 10

To receive and, where necessary, adopt reports of
Committees.
8

Questions under Rule 11.1

9

Questions under Rule 11.2

10

Notice of Motion - Rule 12

11

Test Valley Borough Council Community Governance
Review - Romsey Town - Draft Recommendations
To consider the draft recommendations for the Romsey
Town Community Governance Review.

11 - 58

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

12

Establishment of an Audit committee

59 - 73

To consider the establishment of an Audit Committee.
13

Appointment of Independent Person

74 - 76

To consider the appointment of an Independent Person.
14

Exclusion of the Public

77 - 78

The following items are confidential.
15

Contractual Matters

79 - 90

To consider contractual matters.
16

Commitment of Planning Obligation funds
To consider the commitment of Planning Obligation funds.

91 - 104

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ITEM 7

To receive and, where necessary, adopt reports of
Committees

(Some reports may involve the disclosure of exempt information. If the Council
wishes to debate them, for each individual case the Council will need to adopt a
suitable motion).

7.1

To receive the minutes of the following meetings:

7.1.1

Licensing Committee – 10 February 2022

7.1.2

Northern Area Planning Committee – 17 February 2022

7.1.3

Southern Area Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

7.1.4

Cabinet – 23 February 2022

7.1.5

Overview & Scrutiny Committee – 2 March 2022

7.1.6

Northern Area Planning Committee – 10 March 2022

7.1.7

Southern Area Planning Committee – 15 March 2022

7.1.8

General Purposes Committee – 29 March 2022

7.1.9

Cabinet – 30 March 2022

7.1.10

Northern Area Planning Committee – 31 March 2022

7.1.11

Southern Area Planning Committee – 5 April 2022
(Note: in relation to 7.1.8, 7.1.9, 7.1.10 and 7.1.11 these minutes
are not included in the minute book and will be presented at the
next Council meeting but members are able to ask questions on
resolved items.)

7.2

To adopt recommendations from the following:

7.2.1

Cabinet – 30 March 2022

7.2.1.1

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) – Allocation of CIL Funds
(APPENDIX A)

Any changes/updates following Cabinet on 30 March 2022 will be
reported to Council at the meeting.

Page 4

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Recommended:
That the following projects totalling £283,524 are approved for
CIL funding:

7.2.2



Extension of St Mary’s GP Surgery – £240,478



Viney Avenue to Cupernham School Pedestrian Works –
£13,535



Valley Park Orchard Trail – £29,511

Northern Area Planning Committee – 31 March 2022
Recommendations to follow (if any)

7.2.3

Southern Area Planning Committee – 5 April 2022
Recommendations to follow (if any)

Page 5

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Report to Cabinet – 30 March 2022

APPENDIX A

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) – Allocation of
CIL funds
Report of the Planning Portfolio Holder

Recommended:
That the following projects totalling £283,524 are approved for CIL funding:


Extension of St Mary’s GP Surgery – £240,478



Viney Avenue to Cupernham School Pedestrian Works – £13,535



Valley Park Orchard Trail – £29,511

Recommendation to Council
SUMMARY:
 The report sets out a summary of the bids received during April – June 2021, an
evaluation of each project, and funding recommendations made for each project.
1

Introduction

1.1

The report outlines 3 projects that were submitted during the 2021 round of
the CIL bidding process and the resultant funding recommendations.

1.2

The report includes a brief description of each project, a percentage score
against the Spending Protocol scoring criteria and a funding recommendation.

1.3

There is currently £700,000 in the Community Projects Reserve. This is after
taking into account the Regeneration Reserve, Neighbourhood Portion
passed to Parish and Town Councils as well as administrative expenses.

2

Background

2.1

The CIL Spending Protocol and scoring methodology was adopted by Council
on the 8 November 2017.

2.2

This round of CIL bidding ran between 1 April and 30 June 2021.

2.3

Section 3 of this report identifies each project and provides a recommendation
for funding based on the approved scoring methodology.

2.4

The approved Bid Assessment document which can be accessed here. This
is made up of 10 questions with a maximum score of 120 points. Questions 1
and 2 are weighted heavily weighted as they are linked to CIL’s main purpose
which is to enable or mitigate the impacts of development. An average
percentage score is presented below alongside a funding recommendation.

Page 6

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Report to Cabinet – 30 March 2022

APPENDIX A

2.5

All bids are assessed against the same criteria meaning that a scheme with a
total cost of £15,000 will be scored in the same way as a scheme with a total
cost of £15,000,000.

2.6

Smaller schemes are likely to score lower as the level of detail required for the
project is not as significant as a large scheme. This means that the threshold
for recommendation reduces along with total project cost.

3

Funding Recommendations

3.1

Project 1 – Extension of St Mary’s GP Surgery
Lead Organisation – Hampshire, Southampton and Isle of Wight Clinical
Commissioning Group.
Description – The extension of St Mary’s GP surgery to allow for additional
consulting rooms and staffing.
Evaluation of project – A detailed submission that had a large amount of
supporting evidence. A robust risk assessment has been carried out and
planning permission has been granted for the extension. The bid scored well
against the mitigation and enabling of development criteria due to adding
capacity to the local primary care network.
Average Score – 79%
Recommendation – That Cabinet endorse the release of £240,478 towards
an extension to St Mary’s GP Surgery.

3.2

Project 2 – Viney Avenue to Cupernham School Pedestrian Works
Lead Organisation – Romsey Future Walking and Cycling Work Group.
Description – Dropped kerbs and way-finding signage between Viney
Avenue and Cupernham School. This is the first phase of wider pedestrian
and cycling improvement project in Romsey.
Evaluation of project – A large amount of photographic evidence was
provided along with assessments for each individual location proposed for
enhancement. The scheme scored highly against the criteria that focused on
impacts for the intended users, particularly those with mobility issues.
Hampshire County Council have been consulted and have supported the
proposals.
Average Score – 53%
Recommendation – That Cabinet endorse the release of £13,535 towards
pedestrian works between Viney Avenue and Cupernham School.

3.3

Project 3 – Valley Park Orchard Trail
Lead Organisation – Valley Park Parish Council.

Page 7

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Report to Cabinet – 30 March 2022

APPENDIX A

Description – Planting of 6 orchards with wildflower ground cover in Valley
Park.
Evaluation of project – A scheme that will be delivered in partnership with
our Community and Leisure service. Scored strongly against consultation
criteria due to a large show of support from local residents, businesses and
schools. The proposal provides a number of direct and indirect benefits to the
local community. An interesting environmental scheme that also includes
aspects of sustainability in the form of locally produced fruit.
Average Score – 50%
Recommendation – That Cabinet endorse the release of £29,511 towards
Valley Park Orchard Trail.
4

Objectives and Priorities

4.1

This report covers the following Corporate Priorities set out in the Corporate
Plan 2019 – 2023 as shown below.

4.2

Communities – The Viney Avenue to Cupernham School Pedestrian Works
bid has been submitted by the Romsey Future Walking and Cycling Group.
This is a group comprised mainly of Romsey residents who volunteer their
time to help plan improvements to pedestrian access in the town. This bid is
an example of how the Council is empowering local communities.

4.3

People – The extension of St Mary’s GP Surgery is an example of the Council
investing in infrastructure to ensure that people are able to live well with the
borough.

4.4

The Local Environment – The Valley Park Orchard trail bid was developed in
conjunction with the Council’s Community and Leisure Service. The scheme
will provide high quality green infrastructure for the community to enjoy for
generations to come.

5

Consultations/Communications

5.1

There has been no external consultation because the report reflects the
outcomes of an approved methodology. Projects listed have gone through
various forms of consultation prior to bids being submitted as is required by
the assessment criteria.

6

Options

6.1

Option 1 – Support the recommendations and approve the release of
£283,524

6.2

Option 2 – To refuse/approve projects against the recommendations.

Page 8

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Report to Cabinet – 30 March 2022
7

APPENDIX A

Option Appraisal
Option 1

7.1

The recommendations are transparent and fair using the criteria approved by
Cabinet on the 18 October 2017.
Option 2

7.2

Projects may be approved or refused against the recommendations.
Feedback will be given to applicants where a project is refused funding.

8

Risk Management

8.1

An evaluation of the risks associated with the matters in this report indicate
that further risk assessment is not needed because the changes/issues
covered do not represent significant risks or have previously been considered
by Councillors.

9

Resource Implications

9.1

The funding for these projects will come from the Council’s CIL receipts. No
other resources will be used.

10

Legal Implications

10.1

No legal implications for Option 1.

11

Equality Issues

11.1

An EQIA screening has been completed in accordance with the Council’s
EQIA methodology and no potential for unlawful discrimination and/or low
level or minor negative impact have been identified, therefore a full EQIA has
not been carried out.

12

Other Issues

12.1

Wards/Communities Affected – The projects listed affect the following
communities: Romsey, Andover and Valley Park.

13

Conclusion

13.1

Approval is sought to release CIL funds to the following projects:


Extension of St Mary’s GP Surgery - £240,478.



Viney Avenue to Cupernham School Pedestrian Works - £13,535.



Valley Park Orchard Trail - £29,511.

Page 9

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Report to Cabinet – 30 March 2022

APPENDIX A

Background Papers (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)
Cabinet report from the 18 October 2017
CIL Bid Assessment
Confidentiality
It is considered that this report does not contain exempt information within the
meaning of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, and can
be made public.
No of Annexes:

0

File Ref: N/A

(Portfolio: Planning) Councillor P Bundy
Officer:

Oliver McCarthy

Ext:

8176

Report to:

Cabinet

Date:

30 March 2022

Page 10

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ITEM 11

Test Valley Borough Council Community
Governance Review – Romsey Town - Draft
Recommendations

Report of the Democracy and Governance Portfolio Holder

Recommended:
1.

That the Draft Recommendations for the Romsey Town Community
Governance Review, as set out in Annex 2 to the report, be adopted.

2.

That the Draft Recommendations as set out in Annex 2 to the report be
published for consultation purposes from Friday 8 April to Friday 3 June
2022 inclusive.

3.

That the consultation process include sending letters to residential
addresses in the part of Romsey Extra Parish outside the existing
Romsey Borough Wards.

4.

That a further report be made to full Council on 7 September 2022, to
include further consultation responses and a set of proposed Final
Recommendations.

5.

That delegated authority be given to the Chief Executive (in consultation
with the Democracy and Governance Portfolio Holder) to review the
existing polling districts and make such changes as he considers
appropriate in the light of the Final Recommendations.

SUMMARY:


In 2018, the Council undertook a Borough-wide Community Governance Review,
to examine existing parish governance arrangements following a review of
Borough Ward boundaries by the Local Government Boundary Commission for
England. Under this Review, Romsey Extra Parish and Romsey Town remained
essentially unchanged.



In May 2021, Romsey Town Council submitted a formal request to extend the
existing boundaries of Romsey Town, so that the new boundary would be
coterminous with the existing Borough Ward boundaries.



Full Council agreed on 1 September 2021 to undertake a Community
Governance Review (CGR) of the boundaries of Romsey Town. Terms of
reference for the CGR were approved by full Council on 10 November 2021, and
a Member Panel appointed to consider the results of a first consultation stage.



The First Consultation stage of the CGR ran from 12 November 2021 to 28
January 2022, resulting in a total of 14 representations being made. These
representations have been considered by the Member Panel, and the proposed
Draft Recommendations set out in Annex 2 to the report reflect the views of the
Member Panel.

Page 11

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022



If Council approves the proposed Draft Recommendations, the next stage in the
CGR process is to publish the Draft Recommendations, and invite
representations as part of a Second Consultation stage. The responses received
will again be considered by the Member Panel and reported to full Council on 7
September 2022, for full Council to approve a set of Final Recommendations
and conclude the CGR process.



Annex 4 to the report sets out the timetable for the various stages which will be
undertaken during the Community Governance Review.

1

Introduction and Background

1.1

Members will recall that a Borough-wide Community Governance Review
(CGR) was undertaken in 2018, to examine existing parish governance
arrangements following a review of Borough Ward boundaries by the Local
Government Boundary Commission for England. Several changes were
made, but (apart from some minor boundary changes) Romsey Extra Parish
and Romsey Town remained essentially unchanged.

1.2

Since the 2018 review, Romsey Extra Parish and Romsey Town Councils
have implemented some joint working on matters such as planning, and in
May 2021 Romsey Town Council made a formal resolution as follows:33. BOUNDARY REVIEW - RESOLUTION NO. 21/54 It was RESOLVED
Romsey Town Council will, before December 2021 and with all relevant
consultation documentation - that Test Valley Borough Council review the
boundary of Romsey Parish, such that it includes all current and planned
urban areas identified as Romsey. No possible boundary changes are to be
implemented until after appropriate public consultation, although they should
be in place for the 2023 council elections.
PROPOSED: Cllr. N. Gwynne SECONDED: Cllr. J. Burnage CARRIED
Discussions with officers subsequently confirmed that the reference in the
resolution to “current and planned urban areas identified as Romsey” was
indeed seeking to make the area of Romsey Town coterminous with the three
Romsey Borough Wards (Abbey, Cupernham and Tadburn).
Map 2 (Annex 3) shows the parish boundaries in blue, and the three Romsey
Borough Wards edged red. The red edged area would therefore constitute the
new extended area of Romsey Town if the proposal were to be accepted and
agreed following a CGR process.

1.3

Full Council on 1 September 2021 agreed to undertake a CGR to consider
Romsey Town’s request, and appoint a Member Panel to assist in the CGR
process. Terms of Reference for the Review were approved by full Council on
10 November 2021.

Page 12

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

1.4

The approved Terms of Reference for the CGR provide for a two-stage
consultation process. The outcome of the First Consultation Stage (which is
the subject of this report) is a set of Draft Recommendations which detail the
proposed changes (if any) to governance arrangements for Romsey Town
and Romsey Extra Parish, taking into account the representations received
under the First Consultation stage.

1.5

The First Consultation stage ran from 12 November 2021 to 28 January 2022.
Comprehensive information was posted on the Council’s website, and all
parish councils, together with Borough and County Councillors in the area,
were notified. In addition, emails were sent to various community groups and
press releases issued, as well as social media used to publicise the Review.

1.6

14 representations were received under the First Consultation Stage. These
representations have been considered by the Member Panel and taken into
account when preparing the proposed Draft Recommendations set out in
Annex 2.

1.7

If full Council agrees the proposed Draft Recommendations, these will be
published and a Second Consultation stage commenced, which will invite
representations in response to these Draft Recommendations. Again, any
responses received will be assessed and considered by the Member Panel,
and a report back to full Council on 7 September 2022 will propose Final
Recommendations for governance changes in Romsey Town/Romsey Extra
Parish.

1.8

As noted above, after any necessary Consents have been obtained, a further
decision will be required as to the extent to which the final recommendations
are given effect. This is done by the making of a formal Reorganisation Order.
In compliance with the guidance on implementation of Reorganisation Orders,
it is intended that any Reorganisation Order implementing the CGR will take
effect from 1 April 2023. However, this would not affect the status of existing
parish councillors (even where parishes are altered), who will continue in
office until the May 2023 Election (when they would retire and could seek reelection).

1.9

To allow time for any changes to be reflected in the Electoral Register (due for
publication on 1 December 2022) it will be suggested that delegated authority
be given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Democracy and
Governance Portfolio Holder, to determine what changes are to be included in
the Reorganisation Order. This authority will be covered in the report to full
Council on 7 September 2022.

1.10

The last part of the process will be to make a decision as to the extent to
which the Final Recommendations are given effect. That decision is then
implemented by the Council making a formal Reorganisation Order, setting
out the changes to be made and the date these come into force. For
administrative and financial purposes, Reorganisation Orders implementing
CGRs should take effect from 1 April following the date on which it is made.

Page 13

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

1.11

Subject to obtaining any necessary consents from the Local Government
Boundary Commission for England, a Reorganisation Order will then be
made, which will implement any approved changes in time for the May 2023
elections.

2

Corporate Objectives and Priorities

2.1

The CGR will seek to ensure that community governance in Test Valley
reflects the identities and interests of local communities, and is effective and
convenient.

3

Consultations/Communications

3.1

As noted above, the first period of consultation ran for 11 weeks from 12
November 2021 to 28 January 2022. In order to assist participation in the
consultation, an options document was prepared and published on the
website, which set out some potential outcomes to the CGR. It was however
made clear that this document was not intended to be an exhaustive list of
potential outcomes, and by issuing the document the Council was not
precluding other outcomes which respondents might suggest.

3.2

The consultation invited respondents to participate in the consultation
process. The Terms of Reference made it clear that the area of the CGR was
limited to Romsey Town and Romsey Extra Parish, although the CGR would
consider the impact on adjacent parishes. However, given that this was a
Community Governance Review, all parish councils in the Borough were sent
details of the Review and invited to participate.

3.3

Borough and County Councillors, community and residents’ associations, and
associations representing businesses and parish councils in the review area
were also contacted, as was Hampshire County Council. A dedicated page on
the Council’s website was set up to allow individuals to find out information
about the CGR and to participate themselves, and news releases and social
media were also used to publicise the CGR.

3.4

14 responses were received during the consultation period. In addition, 1
response was received after the consultation period had ended (Ampfield
Parish Council, which formally made no comment on the proposals). Once the
Draft Recommendations have been published, officers will be writing to the
respondents, inviting them to review the Draft Recommendations and make
any further representations they wish in the light of these.

3.5

Of the 14 representations received, 5 were from parish councils (Romsey
Town, Romsey Extra Parish, Awbridge, Wellow and Nursling & Rownhams). 3
were from Borough/Town/Parish Councillors (Cllrs Burnage, Cooper and
Gwynne) and 6 from individuals. The representations received within the
consultation period have been analysed and assessed by officers, and have
also been considered by the Community Governance Review Member Panel.
The views of the Member Panel are reflected in the proposed Draft
Recommendations in Annex 2.

Page 14

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

3.6

In order to consider the representations, they have been referenced to the
option (or options) that they supported. The representations are summarised
in Annex 1 against the options to which they refer.

4

Options

4.1

The options document issued as part of the CGR process identified a number
of possible outcomes for the CGR process. Some representations supported
Romsey Town’s proposal but did not express any views on what should be
done with the remainder of Romsey Extra Parish, and “Option1” is used to
identify these representations.

4.2

In addition, Awbridge Parish Council put forward an additional proposal, which
suggested that if Awbridge’s parish boundaries were to be changed, that part
of Romsey Extra Parish which is considered by residents to be part of
Awbridge village should be transferred to Awbridge Parish (see Map 4 in
Annex 3). This suggestion creates two further permutations of the original
options, carving out part of Romsey Extra and transferring it to Awbridge. This
could be applied against option 1A (reducing the residual area of Romsey
Extra further) or option 2 (reducing the extent of Romsey Extra parish to be
merged with Romsey Town). These are referred to as options 1E and 2A
respectively in the report.

4.3

This report therefore assesses the following options:

Option 1A - Agree Romsey Town’s request and retain Romsey Extra
Parish Council to cover the remaining area of Romsey Extra Parish.



Option 1B - Agree Romsey Town’s request and abolish Romsey Extra
Parish Council – transfer remaining areas to adjoining parishes.



Option 1C - Agree Romsey Town’s request and abolish Romsey Extra
Parish Council – Establish Parish Meeting.



Option 1D - Agree Romsey Town’s request and abolish Romsey Extra
Parish Council – remaining area to be unparished.



Option 1E - Agree Romsey Town’s request and retain Romsey Extra
Parish Council to cover the remaining area of Romsey Extra Parish but
transfer part of Romsey Extra to Awbridge (see Map 4 in Annex 3).



Option 1 - Agree Romsey Town’s request (but no preference on options
for remainder of Romsey Extra Parish left over).



Option 2 – Merge Romsey Town and Romsey Extra Parish, with a new
parish council covering the merged area.



Option 2A – Merge Romsey Town and Romsey Extra Parish (excluding
part to be transferred to Awbridge - see Map 4 in Annex 3), with a new
parish council covering the merged area.

Page 15

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022



Option 3 – Group Romsey Town and Romsey Extra Parish under a
common parish council.



Option 4 – No Change.

4.4

Annex 1 sets out each option, summarise the detailed comments received,
and set out the Member Panel observations.

4.5

The following table summarises the favoured option(s) expressed by those
responding to the First Consultation Stage:Option Ref

4.6

Individuals Parishes

Total

1A – Agree RTC request, retain REPC for
remainder of REP

0

0

0

1B – Agree RTC request, abolish REPC and
transfer to adjacent parishes

3

1

3

1C – Agree RTC request, abolish REPC
and establish parish meeting

0

0

0

1D – Agree RTC request, abolish REPC
and leave remaining area unparished

0

0

0

1E – Agree RTC request, retain REPC for
remainder of REP (excluding part to
Awbridge)

-

1

1

1 - Agree RTC request, no preference for
remainder of REP

3

1

4

2 – Merge RT and REP under one parish
council

2

2

4

2A – Merge RT and REP under one parish
council (but transfer part to Awbridge)

-

1

1

3 - Group Romsey Town and Romsey Extra
Parish under a common parish council

0

0

0

4 – No change

1

1

2

The vast majority of respondents supported (or were content with) Romsey
Town’s proposal for Romsey Town’s boundaries to be extended to become
coterminous with the Borough Wards. Only two respondents (one individual,
and Nursling and Rownhams Parish Council) preferred no change to the
current governance arrangements and boundaries.

Page 16

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

4.7

Many of those favouring Romsey Town’s proposal did not express any views
on what should happen to the remainder of Romsey Extra Parish. There was
clear opposition from two adjacent parish councils (Wellow and Nursling &
Rownhams) to any parts of Romsey Extra Parish being transferred to them,
and Awbridge was only interested in taking on a small part of Romsey Extra
(the part which it and local residents consider to be part of Awbridge village).
In addition, Romsey Extra Parish considered that Option 1A (retention of a
reduced Romsey Extra Parish as a standalone parish council) was not (in its
view) a preferred option.

5

Member Panel Deliberations

5.1

Two meetings of the Member Panel took place after the close of the First
Consultation period. The Member Panel carefully assessed the
representations which had been received, and the implications of the various
options for future governance arrangements.

5.2

It accepted that the suggestion from Awbridge Parish Council (for the part of
Romsey Extra Parish adjacent to Awbridge Parish, which was considered part
of the village (see Map 2 in Annex 3) appeared to be a sensible proposal,
regardless of what arrangements were adopted for Romsey Town and the
remainder of Romsey Extra Parish. This is reflected in options 1E and 2A.

5.3

It accepted that Romsey Town’s proposal (that Romsey Town’s boundaries
be extended to become coterminous with the Romsey Borough Wards)
should be supported, as it would reflect the extended built-up area of Romsey
and would remove the anomaly whereby part of this area is in Romsey Town
with the remainder being in Romsey Extra Parish. Such an outcome would
meet the statutory tests of a CGR. The Member Panel therefore rejected
option 4 (no change). However, it was then necessary to consider what
should happen to the remainder of Romsey Extra Parish (the area to the west
and south-west of Romsey).

5.4

The Member Panel shared the concerns expressed by respondents, including
Romsey Extra Parish Council, that the remaining area would be a relatively
large area with a relatively small population, and was unlikely to be viable as a
continuing (albeit reduced) Romsey Extra Parish Council. It accordingly
rejected option 1A.

5.5

The Member Panel noted the opposition of the other two adjacent parish
councils to Option 1B (whereby the remaining part would be transferred to the
adjacent parishes), and agreed that there would be additional demands on
those parishes without a significant corresponding increase in resources, as
well as a lack of community and physical connections between the remaining
part and those parishes. Accordingly, the Member Panel rejected option 1B.

5.6

The Member Panel considered that retaining the reduced area as a Parish,
but without a parish council, was not appropriate for an area of this nature,
size and population. It considered abolition of parish status for the area would
be a retrograde step. Accordingly, options 1C and 1D were also rejected.

Page 17

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

5.7

Option 2 (merging the two parishes under one parish council) and option 3
(grouping the two parishes under a common parish council) would both result
in a single parish council for both areas, but the Member Panel felt that a
common parish council would retain what is now an artificial and historic
division between Romsey Extra Parish and Romsey Town. It therefore
concluded that option 3 should be rejected.

5.8

The Member Panel therefore concluded that in the light of its acceptance of
Awbridge’s proposal, option 2A (merge Romsey Town and Romsey Extra
Parish (excluding the part adjacent to Awbridge Parish) with a new parish
council covering the merged area, should be supported. This conclusion is
reflected in the proposed Draft Recommendations in Annex 2, although the
Draft Recommendations provide for Romsey Town Council to be retained as
the parish council for the new merged area, rather than creating a new
town/parish council. Romsey Town Council is already established with staff,
financial systems, etc. Abolishing both Romsey Town and Romsey Extra
Parish Councils, and creating a new town/parish council for the merged area,
would require the setting up of new employment contracts, financial
arrangements, accounts, etc., which it is considered would create
unnecessary administrative burdens.

5.9

The Member Panel also proposed that as part of the Second Consultation
Process, letters should be sent to the residential addresses where electors
are registered in the part of Romsey Extra parish outside the Romsey
Borough Wards, advising those electors of the CGR process and the adopted
Draft Recommendations and inviting them to participate in the Second
Consultation.

6

Council Size/Electoral Arrangements/LGBCE Consent

6.1

If the proposed Option 2A is taken forward, the Draft Recommendations will
also need to deal with consequential electoral arrangements, including the
date of elections, how the enlarged Romsey Town is to be warded, and the
number of councillors for each ward.

6.2

The next elections are due in May 2023, and the CGR has been timetabled to
fit that date, so no change to the usual election date/frequency is proposed.

6.3

At present, Romsey Town is warded along the same lines as the Borough
Wards (so that Abbey Town Ward is wholly within Romsey Abbey Borough
Ward, etc.). As the request from Romsey Town Council seeks coterminosity
of the Town’s boundaries with the existing Borough Wards, it is logical to
follow the same principle, so that the extended Romsey Town is warded, with
divisions between Town Council wards being the same as the existing
Borough Ward lines. This would therefore result in three enlarged Town
Wards, covering the same area as the three Borough Wards.

Page 18

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

6.4

This would deal with that part of the existing Romsey Extra Parish which is
within those three Romsey Borough Wards. If option 2A is pursued, the
remaining part of Romsey Extra (other than the part proposed to be
transferred to Awbridge) would still be transferred to Romsey Town, and
would therefore need to be included in the warding for Romsey Town.
Although this area is in two Borough Wards (Blackwater and Chilworth,
Nursling and Rownhams), and Government guidance recommends that in this
situation the parish warding should reflect the Borough warding, the number
of electors (estimated at 264 under option 2A) is considered too low to justify
making this area into two separate wards. The proposed Draft
Recommendations therefore designate this area as a single ward, and the
name “Romsey Extra” is suggested as a possible name for this ward.

6.5

In terms of council size (number of councillors), details of current and
proposed electors per councillors are given in the table below. Romsey Town
Council currently has 15 councillors, an average of 779 electors per
councillor. Romsey Extra Parish Council currently has 7 councillors, with an
average of 664 per councillor.

6.6

Other than a minimum size of 5 councillors, legislation does not prescribe any
maximum number of councillors, or require that the number of councillors is
proportional to the electorate size. The table below shows the current size of
each town/parish ward, and a possible distribution of seats for a Town Council
of the same size (15 councillors) as at present.
Current/Proposed Council Size

Town/Parish
Ward/Council
Abbey
Cupernham
Tadburn
Romsey
Extra

Current
Electors No. of
councillors
4664
6
2957
4
4063
5

Ratio
777
739
813

11684

15

779

Romsey
Extra

4645

7

664

Awbridge

621
16950

7

89

6.7

Proposed
Electors
No. of
councillors
4778
4
6524
6
4654
4
264
1

Ratio
1195
1087
1164
264

16220

15

1081

730
16950

7

104

The Draft Recommendations in Annex 2 therefore include a proposed Town
Council size of 15 councillors, with warding to reflect the above table. As part
of the Second Consultation process, the views of residents and the councils
involved can be sought, and adjustments made at the Final
Recommendations stage if that is considered appropriate.

Page 19

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

6.8

Where Final Recommendations involve changes to “protected electoral
arrangements”, the consent of the Local Government Boundary Commission
for England (LGBCE) is required before they can be implemented. “Protected
electoral arrangements” means arrangements which have been determined
by the LGBCE within the preceding five years in respect of the year of election
of councillors, number of councillors, division (or not) into wards, and the
number, boundaries, name and number of councillors to be elected to such
wards. In Test Valley’s case, both Romsey Town and Romsey Extra Parish
Councils were warded by the LGBCE as a result of the 2017 Electoral
Review, and the LGBCE also set the number of councillors for each ward.

6.9

Under the 2018 Review, the Borough Council decided to de-ward Romsey
Extra Parish Council. As this constituted a protected electoral arrangement,
the LGBCE’s consent was required. The consent was sought and obtained,
and the Reorganisation Order therefore provided that Romsey Extra Parish
should be a single unwarded parish council, comprised of 7 parish councillors.

6.10

No changes were made to the warding arrangements put in place by the
LGBCE for Romsey Town, which therefore remained warded in three wards.
The LGBCE also set the number of parish councillors for each ward, and
again no change was made to these. If the boundaries of Romsey Town are
extended (as is proposed in the Draft Recommendations), this would alter the
warding arrangements set by the LGBCE in the 2018 Review, and therefore
consent would be required from the LGBCE for the changes in warding
arrangements and the number of parish councillors for each ward.

7

Resource Implications

7.1

The costs of carrying out the CGR are primarily officer time in inviting
representations, considering the representations, formulating appropriate draft
and final recommendations, and making a Reorganisation Order to implement
the final recommendations.

8

Polling Districts and other Electoral Registration Issues

8.1

The Borough is divided into polling districts, which are then used to administer
electoral registration and elections. Each parish must be in a separate polling
district, unless special circumstances apply (e.g. if a parish only has a small
number of electors and it would not be practicable for the parish to have its
own polling district). Proper division into polling districts is required to ensure
that electors are able to vote in the correct parish/ward/division at elections.

8.2

A review of polling districts is required every five years. The last full review of
polling districts was carried out in 2019, and reflected the changes made by
the 2018 Community Governance Review. Accordingly, the next review will be
due in 2024.

Page 20

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

8.3

Changes to polling districts will be required if the outcome of the CGR
includes boundary changes (e.g. the transfer of part of Romsey Extra Parish
to Awbridge Parish). New polling districts would be required, and they would
also be renamed to relate to the parish/town area that they would be
transferred to. The recommendations of this report therefore include
delegated authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio
Holder for Democracy and Governance, to undertake an interim review of
polling districts, in order to reflect any changes which arise out of the CGR.

9

Legal Implications

9.1

Guidance on undertaking CGRs was issued in 2010 jointly by the Department
for Communities and Local Government and the LGBCE. This report takes
account of that Guidance, which is available at the following link:https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-governance-reviewsguidance

9.2

In undertaking a CGR, the Borough Council has a number of statutory duties,
set out in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007
(the Act). Under Section 93(3) of the Act, the Council must consult local
government electors for the area under review (i.e. all local government
electors in the Borough in this case) and any other person or body (including
a local authority) which appears to the Borough Council to have an interest in
the Review. This was complied with as set out in Section 3 above.

9.3

Under Section 93(4) of the Act, the Borough Council must have regard to the
need to secure that community governance within the area under review:a)
reflects the identities and interests of the community in that area, and
b)
is effective and convenient.
These are therefore the key tests that must be applied when considering
representations and proposals as part of the CGR.

9.4

Under Section 93(5) of the Act, the Council must take account of other
arrangements (other than e.g. parish councils) that have already been made,
or could be made, for the purposes of community representation or
community engagement in the area under review. The DCLG/LGBCE
Guidance refers to various examples of “alternative” arrangements, such as
area committees, area forums and residents’ associations, although it
recognises that parish councils are distinct from such bodies in that they are a
democratically-elected tier of local government. Possible alternative
arrangements are particularly relevant where there is no existing parish
council, or where there are concerns about the effectiveness of an existing
parish council (as in such situations other arrangements may be able to
provide better overall governance in accordance with the Section 93(4) tests
set out in paragraph 9.3 above).

Page 21

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

9.5

Government guidance confirms that the Government is seeking to help create
cohesive, attractive and economically vibrant local communities, building on
the Government’s ‘Sustainable Communities’ strategy. Central to this concept
is community cohesion. The impact of community governance on community
cohesion is an issue to be taken into account when taking decisions about
community governance arrangements.

9.6

Finally, Section 93(6) requires the Council to take into account any
representations received in connection with the CGR. It is reasonable to set a
time period for representations to be made, in order to allow them to be
properly considered. As noted above, fourteen representations were received
within the specified first consultation period, and these have been taken into
account by the Member Panel and are summarised in Annex 1 to the report.
The only representation received after the deadline had no comments to
make.

10

Next Steps

10.1

Having started the CGR, the Council must now complete it within one year.
Completion of the CGR takes place when final recommendations are
published.

10.2

The Council must therefore work towards determining Final
Recommendations. The Terms of Reference for the CGR have set out the
process which the Council will undertake to reach that stage, namely a First
Consultation stage (completed), the preparation and publication of Draft
Recommendations (the subject of this report), a Second Consultation stage
(consulting on those Draft Recommendations), and the preparation and
publication of Final Recommendations (taking into account the results of the
Second Consultation process).

10.3

Subject to having regard to the statutory tests set out in paragraph 9.3 above,
the Act allows wide scope in what is proposed as recommendations. For
example, recommendations can propose retention of an existing parish
unaltered, the alteration of the parish, or the abolition of the parish.

10.4

Draft recommendations are set out in Annex 2, and these reflect the
deliberations of the CGR Member Panel, which took into account the
representations that were received in the First Consultation period. It is
considered that these are appropriate proposals to deal with the issues which
are raised.

11

Equality Issues

11.1

There are no specific equality issues which arise from this report.

12

Other Issues

12.1

Community Safety – None.

12.2

Environmental Health Issues – None.

Page 22

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

12.3

Sustainability and Addressing a Changing Climate – None.

12.4

Property Issues – this report will not affect any TVBC property. Assets
belonging to parish councils may be affected by the CGR, and there are
provisions in legislation to deal with assets where parishes are abolished, or
parts transferred. If the proposed Draft Recommendations are accepted,
assets held by Romsey Extra Parish (e.g. Woodley Village Hall, cash
reserves, etc.) would be transferred to Romsey Town Council.

12.5

Wards/Communities Affected – the CGR will not affect boundaries of Borough
Wards, as these are set by the LGBCE. This CGR review area is within
Romsey Abbey, Romsey Cupernham, Romsey Tadburn, Blackwater, and
Chilworth, Nursling & Rownhams Borough Wards. A central test for the CGR
is community identity and interest.

13

Conclusion

13.1

This report considers the request made by Romsey Town Council to extend
its boundaries, to coincide with the Romsey Borough Ward boundaries. It sets
out possible options to deal with this request, and other consequential
matters.

13.2

Annex 1 sets out these options, summarises the representations received,
and sets out the Member Panel observations on each option. The Draft
Recommendations set out in Annex 2 are appropriate responses to these
representations, which have regard to the statutory matters, and will allow the
CGR to proceed to the next stage in the process, namely the Second
Consultation period on these Draft Recommendations.

14

List of Annexes
Annex 1

-

Options and Member Panel Observations

Annex 2

-

Proposed Draft Recommendations

Annex 3

-

Maps
Map 1 – Parishes in Romsey Area
Map 2 – Romsey Extra Parish/Romsey Town and Borough
Wards
Map 3 – Romsey Showing Parishes and Borough Wards
Map 4 – Awbridge – Options 1E/2A

Annex 4

-

Timetable

Annex 5

-

Electoral Data

Page 23

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Background Papers (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)
Representations from respondents to First Consultation period (names of individuals
to be redacted).
Confidentiality
It is considered that this report does not contain exempt information within the
meaning of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, and can
be made public.
No of Annexes:

5

File Ref:

N/A

(Portfolio: Democracy and Governance) Councillor I Jeffrey
Author:

Howard Bone

Ext:

8467

Report to:

Council

Date:

6 April 2022

Page 24

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1)

Test Valley Borough Council Community Governance Review – Romsey
Town - Draft Recommendations
Summary of Responses and Draft Recommendations

Option Reference
Summary of Option

Respondent Ref(s)
and Details

1

Agree Romsey Town’s request and retain Romsey Extra
Parish Council to cover the remaining area of Romsey Extra
Parish.
For
11 Romsey Town Council
9 Cllr Neil Gwynne
4 Romsey Town Individual Resident
Against
1 Romsey Extra Individual Resident

Summary of
Representations

FOR
Romsey Town Council’s request as set out in this Option
was accepted by the Borough Council and led to this
Community Governance Review. It submitted copies of the
minutes and supporting report outlining the reasons behind
the request.
Individual Romsey Resident 4 - supports the proposal that
the boundary be extended to include “all current and
planned urban areas identified as Romsey". Given the
recent and planned growth of urban Romsey, this is a logical
and appropriate change.
AGAINST
Individual Romsey Resident 4 - resident of Romsey Extra
Parish for 25 years, and considers that the Parish Council
has served residents well during that time. Sees no need for
change to the current arrangements. Councillors are local
people who are familiar with, and take an interest in, the
parish and its people.

Option 1

Page 25

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1)
Romsey Extra Parish has existed for over 1000 years and
should not be swept away. It is the largest parish by area in
Test Valley, with fifth largest population, and there is
therefore no reason for it not to remain an independent
parish.
As residents outside the centre of Romsey, does not want to
see administration and services further centralised to the
town centre. Does not see themselves as living in the town.
Member Panel
Observations

This option has the benefit of bringing the built-up area of
Romsey under a single council) provides.
However, if Romsey Town Council’s proposal is agreed, a
decision on the governance arrangements for the remainder
of Romsey Extra Parish is required. The various sub-options
(1A, 1B, 1C, 1D and 1E) set out possible ways to deal with
this if Romsey Town is not expanded more than as set out in
Romsey Town Council’s proposal (i.e. the extent of the
existing Romsey Borough Wards and no more).
Option 2 offers an alternative way, in that the two areas are
merged and there is therefore no area left unaddressed.
Option 2A (whereby part of Romsey Extra Parish transfers
to Awbridge, with the remainder being merged with Romsey
Town) is a variation on this solution.
Because Option 1 leaves unaddressed the question of what
happens to the remainder of Romsey Extra, the Member
Panel REJECTED this option 1.
However, the Member Panel was supportive of the principal
behind Romsey Town’s request, and therefore
SUPPORTED Option 2/2A, as set out in the other Annexes.

Option 1

Page 26

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1A)

Test Valley Borough Council Community Governance Review – Romsey
Town - Draft Recommendations
Summary of Responses and Draft Recommendations

Option Reference
Summary of Option

Respondent Ref(s)
and Details

Summary of
Representations

1A

Agree Romsey Town’s request and retain Romsey Extra
Parish Council to cover the remaining area of Romsey Extra
Parish.
For
9 Cllr Neil Gwynne
Against
12 Romsey Extra Parish Council
No respondents indicated that this was their preferred
option. Cllr Gwynne (whose preferred option was Option
1B) suggested that if Option 1B was not supported, he
would recommend a variant of Option1A (with minor
boundary changes such as transferring the area south of the
M27 to Nursling & Rownhams Parish). He also
recommended that in that case, the remaining parish should
not be named Romsey Extra Parish (as the confusion for
residents with two parish councils with Romsey in their
name would continue), but instead should be named by
reference to some geographic feature in the area. He was
however concerned that this option would create a parish
with fewer than 400 electors.
It its representation, Romsey Extra Parish Council was
concerned that this option would result in a reduced Romsey
Extra Parish Council which would not be coterminous with
the Borough Ward boundaries, with less than 400 electors
over a large area, meaning that the revised parish would not
be viable. Accordingly, Romsey Extra Parish Council
considered that this was not a preferred option.

Member Panel
Observations

This option has the benefits which the proposal made by
Romsey Town (i.e. bringing the built-up area of Romsey
under a single council) provides (as set out under Option 1,
see separate Annex).
As noted under Option 1, if that proposal is agreed, a
decision on the governance arrangements for the remainder
of Romsey Extra Parish is required. This Option 1A is one
way of addressing this issue.

Option 1A

Page 27

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1A)
The Group noted that Romsey Extra Parish Council did not
consider this was a preferred option, and that no
respondents had suggested this option as a preferred way
forward.
On current electorate figures, this option would result in a
parish of 373 electors. There are 13 separate parish
councils in the Borough with less than 373 electors (the
smallest being Bullington with 128). The reduced parish
would be relatively large compared to the population, and
there was no obvious centre or clear community identity
across the area.
Although the number of electors was over the statutory
minimum of 150 electors (below which a CGR cannot create
a parish council), the Member Panel considered that this
option could not be recommended.
Accordingly, the Member Panel REJECTED this option.

Option 1A

Page 28

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1B)

Test Valley Borough Council Community Governance Review – Romsey
Town - Draft Recommendations
Summary of Responses and Draft Recommendations

Option Reference

1B

Summary of Option

Option 1B - Agree Romsey Town’s request and abolish Romsey
Extra Parish Council – transfer remaining areas to adjoining
parishes.

Respondent Ref(s)
and Details

For
7 Cllr Mark Cooper
8 Cllr Janet Burnage
9 Cllr Neil Gwynne
3 – Individual Resident (Romsey Town)
14 – Individual Resident (Romsey Town)
12 Romsey Extra Parish Council
Against
6 Wellow Parish Council
10 Nursling and Rownhams Parish Council
Comment
13 Awbridge Parish Council

Summary of
Representations

FOR
Cllr Mark Cooper supports Romsey Town Council's
unanimous request for a Community Governance Review
and notes that Romsey Extra Parish Council was
unanimous in supporting Romsey Town Council's
suggestion that all the built-up areas of Romsey should be
under one common council. This is also in accord with the
Boundary Commission's decision that the three Test Valley
Wards should extend their boundaries to include the built-up
areas which came into being for the 2019 local elections and
that the Boundary Commission's additional
recommendation in 2017 that the Town Council ward
boundaries should be coterminous with the Borough Ward
Boundaries.
He favours Option 1B, but if adjoining parishes are reluctant
to take on the rural parts of Romsey Extra parish, Option 2
is the rational way forward.

Option 1B

Page 29

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1B)
Cllr Cooper points out that 92.6% of electors in Romsey
Extra Parish live in the three Romsey Borough wards, and
he believes most of these electors consider they live in
Romsey, not Romsey Extra. Community Infrastructure Levy
(CIL) money has been received by Romsey Extra Parish for
large numbers of dwellings recently constructed in the
Parish, but the residents of the dwellings use the facilities
Romsey centre. Romsey Town has relatively few new
dwellings, and therefore has to rely on the precept to fund its
services.
Both Councils have worked well together, setting up a joint
Planning Committee.
Cllr Janet Burnage supports Romsey Town Council’s
request for a Community Governance Review and notes
Romsey Extra Parish Council’s support. She makes
reference to the LGBCE’s decision to extent the Borough
Ward boundaries to include the built-up areas of Romsey in
the Romsey Borough Wards.
She favours Option 1B, on the basis that the rural areas
could easily be taken over by the adjacent parishes. If there
was opposition to this, she would reluctantly support Option
2.
Cllr Burnage refers to the joint planning meetings held by
the two councils, which she considers sensible as most
developments are in Romsey Extra, but will have a direct
impact on Romsey Town.
Finally, she notes the support of Romsey Extra Parish
Council for events held in Romsey Town which are attended
by Romsey Extra residents, most of whom think they live in
Romsey.
Cllr Neil Gwynne (who proposed the motion which led to
Romsey Town Council’s request for this CGR) notes that
Romsey Extra Parish unanimously supported Romsey Town
Council’s suggestion that the built up areas of Romsey
should be under one council, which would be in accordance
with the LGBCE’s decision on Borough Wards.
Cllr Gwynne is aware that not all the surrounding parishes
were in favour of Option 1B, so if option 1B is unacceptable,
he would support a variant of Option 1A (see separate
annex).

Option 1B

Page 30

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1B)
Cllr Gwynne points to the Joint Planning Committee
established between Romsey Town and Romsey Extra
Parish, and civic events involving the Town Mayoralty which
are shared with Romsey Extra Parish.
Individual Romsey Resident 3 agrees bringing the closely
developed area of land that forms Romsey and its environs
into a single Parish / Town Council that include all of TVBC
Abbey, Cupernham and Tadburn Wards is a logical outcome
which should have been adopted earlier. This will help
deliver a consistent level of representation across the urban
area that most would identify as "Romsey" and reduce some
of the duplication of effort by local councillors. Residents
would be better able to identify local members who
represent them
The rural nature of the remaining REPC area would seem to
be best served by being included in adjoining parishes.
Individual Romsey Resident 14 is in favour of this
proposal to create one ’town' council, as it is sensible for the
whole town (including the recently developed Abbotswood &
future development of Whitenap) to be represented by one
council.
Much of the work of Romsey Town Council affects residents
in the proposed extended area, so proposal would be more
efficient, lead to more effective representation and more
sensible strategic planning. The remaining rural area should
be divided between the surrounding parishes.
Romsey Extra Parish Council confirmed that it
unanimously supported Romsey Town Council’s proposal
for the built-up area around Romsey to be under a single
council. It raised various consequential matters such as the
treatment of assets, cash reserves, liabilities and staff, and
asked for further discussions on each of these matters.
The Council went on to comment on each option, and these
comments are set out on the relevant Annex.
The Council considered that Option 1B was an acceptable
option, as it would achieve the key objective of a single
council for the whole built-up area of Romsey, and would
maintain coterminosity of Borough Wards with the parish
boundaries.

Option 1B

Page 31

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1B)
AGAINST
Wellow Parish Council unanimously voted against taking
over parts of Romsey Extra Parish that were not wanted by
Romsey Town, on the basis that the areas which Wellow
might be asked to take over would have no benefit to the
Council or Wellow residents. Most of the land would be
fields with little precept gain, but would result in the Parish
Council incurring more expenditure. It was opposed to
Romsey Town “cherry-picking” areas with mass housing
development that would bring financial benefits to the Town
Council whilst trying to offload unprofitable areas of Romsey
Extra Parish to adjoining parishes.
Nursling and Rownhams Parish Council oppose this
option, for a number of reasons. Polling District UJ2 is
divided by the River Test which is a natural barrier across
that area. The larger area to the west of the River Test has
no community link to Nursling and Rownhams, and includes
Ridge, but this is 7-8 miles travel distance to the Parish.
Ridge sees itself as a distinct and separate community from
Nursling and Rownhams, and if Romsey Extra Parish is
abolished, it is more logical to include Ridge in Romsey,
which (at 1-2 miles distance) is better placed to serve
residents of this area.
COMMENT
13 Awbridge Parish Council noted that this option would
result in increases in maintenance costs for parishes, and
the need for assets to be transferred across. It suggested
that part of Romsey Extra Parish could be ideally added to
Awbridge, and this is considered under Option 1E (see
separate annex).
Member Panel
Observations

This option has the benefits which the proposal made by
Romsey Town (i.e. bringing the built-up area of Romsey
under a single council) provides (as set out under Option 1,
see separate Annex).
This option has the benefits which the proposal made by
Romsey Town (i.e. bringing the built-up area of Romsey
under a single council) provides (as set out under Option 1,
see separate Annex).
As noted under Option 1, if that proposal is agreed, a
decision on the governance arrangements for the remainder
of Romsey Extra Parish is required. This Option 1B is one
way of addressing this issue.

Option 1B

Page 32

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1B)
Under this option, three adjacent parish councils would have
parts of Romsey Extra Parish transferred to them. Although
Awbridge Parish Council indicated that it would accept part
of Romsey Extra Parish (the area immediately adjacent to
the village, including Stanbridge Earls, see Option 1E), it did
not want any other parts. The other two parishes (Wellow
and Nursling & Rownhams) were both clearly opposed to
taking any of Romsey Extra Parish.
The Panel accepted that other than the area adjacent to
Awbridge, this option would provide little benefit and impose
additional financial burdens on the adjacent parishes. It also
accepted the points made by Nursling & Rownhams
concerning the lack of connection with that parish.
Accordingly, the Member Panel REJECTED this option 1B.

Option 1B

Page 33

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1C)

Test Valley Borough Council Community Governance Review – Romsey
Town - Draft Recommendations
Summary of Responses and Draft Recommendations

Option Reference

1C

Summary of Option

Agree Romsey Town’s request and abolish Romsey Extra
Parish Council – Establish Parish Meeting.

Respondent Ref(s)
and Details

For
None

Summary of
Representations

Against
12 Romsey Extra Parish Council
No respondents indicated that this was their preferred
option.
In its representation, Romsey Extra Parish Council noted
that this option would achieve the key objective of a single
council for the whole built-up area of Romsey, and would
maintain coterminosity of Borough Wards with the parish
boundaries.
This option would result in a reduced administrative area
which would not be coterminous with the Borough Ward
boundaries. If the Parish Council was abolished and a
Parish Meeting was established for the remainder of
Romsey Extra Parish, there would be a much reduced
administrative overhead.
Romsey Extra Parish Council concluded that this was not a
preferred option.

Member Panel
Observations

This option has the benefits which the proposal made by
Romsey Town (i.e. bringing the built-up area of Romsey
under a single council) provides (as set out under Option 1,
see separate Annex).
As noted under Option 1, if that proposal is agreed, a
decision on the governance arrangements for the remainder
of Romsey Extra Parish is required. This Option 1C is one
way of addressing this issue.

Option 1C

Page 34

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1C)
The Group noted that Romsey Extra Parish Council did not
consider this was a preferred option, and that no
respondents had suggested this option as a preferred way
forward.
On current electorate figures, this option would result in a
parish of 373 electors. There are 13 separate parish
councils in the Borough with less than 373 electors (the
smallest being Bullington with 128). The reduced parish
would be relatively large compared to the population, and
there was no obvious centre or clear community identity
across the area.
The number of electors for the reduced parish was below
the statutory limits (1000 electors) where a parish council is
not required. There are Parish Meeting arrangements for 5
parishes in Test Valley:Ashley (53), Bossington (44), Faccombe (75), Leckford
(109), Little Somborne (67).
The Panel noted that the existing Parish Meeting parishes
were small and/or centred around a landowning estate,
which was not the case here. The Panel also noted that the
area was larger than any of the existing parishes operating
through a parish meeting system, and that it had previously
always had a formal parish council administering it.
Accordingly, the Member Panel REJECTED this option.

Option 1C

Page 35

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1D)

Test Valley Borough Council Community Governance Review – Romsey
Town - Draft Recommendations
Summary of Responses and Draft Recommendations

Option Reference

1D

Summary of Option

Agree Romsey Town’s request and abolish Romsey Extra
Parish Council – remaining area to be unparished.

Respondent Ref(s)
and Details

For
None

Summary of
Representations

Against
12 Romsey Extra Parish Council
No respondents indicated that this was their preferred
option.
In its representation, Romsey Extra Parish Council noted
that this option would achieve the key objective of a single
council for the whole built-up area of Romsey, and would
maintain coterminosity of Borough Wards with the parish
boundaries.
However, leaving the area unparished without even a parish
meeting [which would not be required if parish status was
revoked] would be unsatisfactory and contrary to the
arrangements across the Borough.
Romsey Extra Parish Council concluded that this was not a
preferred option.

Member Panel
Observations

This option has the benefits which the proposal made by
Romsey Town (i.e. bringing the built-up area of Romsey
under a single council) provides (as set out under Option 1,
see separate Annex).
As noted under Option 1, if that proposal is agreed, a
decision on the governance arrangements for the remainder
of Romsey Extra Parish is required. This Option 1D is one
way of addressing this issue.
The Group noted that Romsey Extra Parish Council did not
consider this was a preferred option, and that no
respondents had suggested this option as a preferred way
forward.

Option 1D

Page 36

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1D)
The Member Panel noted that Government Guidance is
firmly against abolishing existing parishes with no
community governance arrangements in place. If
exceptionally abolition is to be considered, the Guidance
states that local opinion (including parish councillors and
local electors) should be sought , and that there be clear
and sustained local support for such action.
Given this guidance, the lack of any support for abolition,
and the fact that every other part of the Borough is parishes,
the Panel concluded that abolition was not appropriate.
Accordingly, the Member Panel REJECTED this option.

Option 1D

Page 37

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1E)

Test Valley Borough Council Community Governance Review – Romsey
Town - Draft Recommendations
Summary of Responses and Draft Recommendations

Option Reference
Summary of Option

Respondent Ref(s)
and Details

1E

Agree Romsey Town’s request and retain Romsey Extra
Parish Council to cover the remaining area of Romsey Extra
Parish ((excluding the part adjacent to Awbridge Parish
[north of the Old Salisbury Road] as shown coloured blue on
Map 4.
For
13 Awbridge Parish Council
(Note As this was a new option proposed by Awbridge
Parish Council, the respondents below have not commented
on this option, but did comment on Option 1A (where
Romsey Extra Parish is retained). The comments below
therefore relate to Option 1A, for reference).
9 Cllr Neil Gwynne
Against
12 Romsey Extra Parish Council

Summary of
Representations

Awbridge Parish Council supported Option 1B but only in
respect of the inclusion within Awbridge of that part of
Romsey Extra Parish considered by Awbridge residents to
be part of Awbridge (including properties in old Salisbury
Lane, Stanbridge Lane to the junction of the A3057, and the
area to and along the River Test to the existing parish
boundaries (see Map 4). For the purposes of the CGR, this
has been designated Option 1E.
Other than Awbridge Parish Council, no respondents
indicated that this was their preferred option. Cllr Gwynne
(whose preferred option was Option 1B) suggested that if
Option 1B was not supported, he would recommend a
variant of Option 1A (with minor boundary changes such as
transferring the area south of the M27 to Nursling &
Rownhams Parish). [Awbridge’s proposal could equally fall
into Cllr Gwynne’s reference to “minor boundary changes”].
He also recommended that in that case, the remaining
parish should not be named Romsey Extra Parish (as the
confusion for residents with two parish councils with
Romsey in their name would continue), but instead should
be named by reference to some geographic feature in the
area. He was however concerned that this option would

Option 1E

Page 38

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(1E)
create a parish with 373 electors [removing the part sought
by Awbridge might reduce that by a further 109 compared to
current figures, plus any occupants of new units at
Stanbridge Earls occupied before May 2023].
It its representation, Romsey Extra Parish Council was
concerned that this option would result in a reduced Romsey
Extra Parish Council which would not be coterminous with
the Borough Ward boundaries, with less than 400 electors
over a large area, meaning that the revised parish would not
be viable. Accordingly, Romsey Extra Parish Council
considered that this was not a preferred option. [Given this
response, it is assumed Romsey Extra would consider this
option is not a preferred option either.]
Member Panel
Observations

This option has the benefits which the proposal made by
Romsey Town (i.e. bringing the built-up area of Romsey
under a single council) provides (as set out under Option 1,
see separate Annex).
As noted under Option 1, if that proposal is agreed, a
decision on the governance arrangements for the remainder
of Romsey Extra Parish is required. This Option 1E is one
way of addressing this issue.
The Group noted that Romsey Extra Parish Council did not
consider that option 1A was a preferred option, and that it
was likely that they would not favour this option for the same
reasons.
However, this option would meet Awbridge Parish Council’s
suggestion to bring into Awbridge a part of Romsey Extra
Parish that Awbridge residents consider part of Awbridge
(including the area around Stanbridge Earls).
On current electorate figures, this option would result in a
parish of approximately 264 electors (109 less than Option
1A). There are 13 separate parish councils in the Borough
with less than 373 electors (the smallest being Bullington
with 128). The reduced parish would be relatively large
compared to the population, and there was no obvious
centre or clear community identity across the area.
Although the number of electors was over the statutory
minimum of 150 electors (below which a CGR cannot create
a parish council), the Member Panel considered that this
option could not be recommended.
Accordingly, the Member Panel REJECTED this option 1E.

Option 1E

Page 39

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(2)

Test Valley Borough Council Community Governance Review – Romsey
Town - Draft Recommendations
Summary of Responses and Draft Recommendations

Option Reference

2

Summary of Option

Merge Romsey Town and Romsey Extra Parish, with a new
parish council covering the merged area.

Respondent Ref(s)
and Details

For
8 Cllr Janet Burnage
12 Romsey Extra Parish Council
5 Individual Romsey Town resident
2 Individual (address not known)
Against
None

Summary of
Representations

Cllr Janet Burnage’s preferred option was Option 1B, but if
there was opposition to this she would reluctantly support
this Option 2.
Romsey Extra Parish Council noted that this option would
have the benefit of coterminosity (for the built-up area) if the
wards of the new parish were coterminous with the
equivalent Borough wards. However, the remainder of
Romsey Extra Parish would not be coterminous [as it would
remain split between Blackwater and Chilworth, Nursling &
Rownhams Borough Wards].
This option would also remove the complications [with
Options 1A and 1B) concerning distribution of assets, cash
reserves, liability and staff.
Individual Romsey Resident 5 considers Romsey Extra
Parish to be an historic anomaly which should be absorbed
into Romsey Town. Most residents of both communities do
not realise there is a divide between the two parishes, and
there is no centre, community or shop to Romsey Extra
Parish, which therefore looks to Romsey Town. The vast
majority of recent/planned development is in Romsey Extra,
which greatly affects Romsey Town but does not benefit the
Town.

Option 2

Page 40

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(2)
Majority sports, leisure and education facilities and
infrastructure are situated in Romsey Extra. Four pubs in
Romsey Extra rely on trade from Romsey Town, and three
are within 100 yards of Romsey Town. Many Romsey Extra
parish councillors live in Romsey Town, and six represent
both councils.
Pursuing this option would allow Community Infrastructure
Levy and Section 106 monies to be spent for the benefit of
the residents of “greater” Romsey.
Individual 5 fully supports the idea to scrap the whole of
Romsey Extra and merge with Romsey Town to create a
greater Romsey Parish Council.
Member Panel
Observations

This option has the benefits which the proposal made by
Romsey Town (i.e. bringing the built-up area of Romsey
under a single council) provides (as set out under Option 1,
see separate Annex).
However, it also deals with the objections raised by Wellow
and Nursling & Rownhams Parish Councils (who did not
wish to take on any parts of Romsey Extra Parish) which
would have arisen under Option 1B).
It would be possible to incorporate Awbridge’s suggestion to
take on part (the area around Stanbridge Earls) of Romsey
Extra Parish into this option, whereby that part would be
transferred to Awbridge and the remainder of Romsey Extra
Parish merged with Romsey Town. This is considered under
Option 2A (see separate Annex).
The Member Panel noted that under this Option, the built-up
areas would be coterminous with the Romsey Borough
Wards, but the area comprising the remainder of Romsey
Extra Parish would be split between two Borough Wards
(Blackwater and Chilworth, Nursling & Rownhams).
However, the Panel considered that the benefits of this
option would avoid the issues with retaining a separate
parish council for this remaining area (Option 1A). In
addition, it would avoid any issues with Romsey Extra
Parish’s existing assets/cash reserves/liabilities, as these
would all transfer to the new merged council.
Further decisions would be required on a number of issues,
including:•
•

The name of the new merged area;
The name and style (parish/town) of the new
council;

Option 2

Page 41

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(2)
•

•

The warding of the new Council - it is suggested
that a new fourth ward should be formed,
comprising the remaining part of Romsey Extra
Parish, with the other three wards being
coterminous with the existing Romsey Borough
Ward boundaries;
The numbers of councillors in each ward.

Accordingly, the Member Panel APPROVED this option 2
[although it preferred option 2A].

Option 2

Page 42

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(2A)

Test Valley Borough Council Community Governance Review – Romsey
Town - Draft Recommendations
Summary of Responses and Draft Recommendations

Option Reference

2A

Summary of Option

Merge Romsey Town and Romsey Extra Parish (excluding
the part adjacent to Awbridge Parish [north of the Old
Salisbury Road] as shown coloured blue on Map 4), with a
new parish council covering the merged area.

Respondent Ref(s)
and Details

For
13 Awbridge Parish Council
NB – this was an additional option proposed by Awbridge
Parish Council, but it is assumed that the respondents below
(who supported Option 2) would also support this option.
8 Cllr Janet Burnage
12 Romsey Extra Parish Council
5 Individual Romsey Town resident
2 Individual (address not known)
Against
None

Summary of
Representations

FOR
Awbridge Parish Council supported Option 1B but only in
respect of the inclusion within Awbridge of that part of
Romsey Extra Parish considered by Awbridge residents to
be part of Awbridge (including properties in old Salisbury
Lane, Stanbridge Lane to the junction of the A3057, and the
area to and along the River test to the existing parish
boundaries (see Map 4).
Cllr Janet Burnage’s preferred option was Option 1B, but if
there was opposition to this she would reluctantly support
Option 2. [As this Option is a minor variation to Option 2, it is
assumed that she would also support this option.]

Option 2A

Page 43

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(2A)
Romsey Extra Parish Council noted that Option 2 would
have the benefit of coterminosity (for the built-up area) if the
wards of the new parish were coterminous with the
equivalent Borough wards. However, the remainder of
Romsey Extra Parish would not be coterminous [as it would
remain split between Blackwater and Chilworth, Nursling &
Rownhams Borough Wards].
Unlike Option 2, this option would re-introduce issues
concerning distribution of assets, cash reserves, liability and
staff [but as it is only a small part, this may not be
significant, and it is assumed that Romsey Extra Parish
Council would therefore support this option also.]
Individual Romsey Resident 5 considers Romsey Extra
Parish to be an historic anomaly which should be absorbed
into Romsey Town. Most residents of both communities do
not realise there is a divide between the two parishes, and
there is no centre, community or shop to Romsey Extra
Parish, which therefore looks to Romsey Town. The vast
majority of recent/planned development is in Romsey Extra,
which greatly affects Romsey Town but does not benefit the
Town.
Majority sports, leisure and education facilities and
infrastructure are situated in Romsey Extra. Four pubs in
Romsey Extra rely on trade from Romsey Town, and three
are within 100 yards of Romsey Town. Many Romsey Extra
parish councillors live in Romsey Town, and six represent
both councils.
Pursuing this option would allow Community Infrastructure
Levy and Section 106 monies to be spent for the benefit of
the residents of “greater” Romsey.
Individual 5 fully supports the idea to scrap the whole of
Romsey Extra and merge with Romsey Town to create a
greater Romsey Parish Council.
[The above individuals supported merging the whole of both
parishes, so may not support this option, although it does
largely conform with their views.]
Member Panel
Observations

This option has the benefits which the proposal made by
Romsey Town (i.e. bringing the built-up area of Romsey
under a single council) provides (as set out under Option 1,
see separate Annex).

Option 2A

Page 44

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(2A)
However, it also deals with the objections raised by Wellow
and Nursling & Rownhams Parish Councils (who did not
wish to take on any parts of Romsey Extra Parish) which
would have arisen under Option 1B).
It also meets Awbridge Parish Council’s suggestion to bring
into Awbridge a part of Romsey Extra Parish that Awbridge
residents consider part of Awbridge (including the area
around Stanbridge Earls).
The Member Panel noted that under this Option, the built-up
areas would be coterminous with the Romsey Borough
Wards, but the area comprising the remainder of Romsey
Extra Parish would be split between two Borough Wards
(Blackwater and Chilworth, Nursling & Rownhams).
However, the Panel considered that the benefits of this
option would avoid the issues with retaining a separate
parish council for this remaining area (Option 1A).
Although this option would In addition, it would avoid any
issues with Romsey Extra Parish’s existing assets/cash
reserves/liabilities, as these would all transfer to the new
merged council.
Further decisions would be required on a number of issues,
including:•

•
•
•

•

Distribution of Assets, cash reserves, liability and
staff between the new merged council and
Awbridge Parish Council;
The name of the new merged area;
The name and style (parish/town) of the new
council;
The warding of the new Council - it is suggested
that a new fourth ward should be formed,
comprising the remaining part of Romsey Extra
Parish, with the other three wards being
coterminous with the existing Romsey Borough
Ward boundaries;
The numbers of councillors in each ward.

Accordingly, the Member Panel APPROVED this option 2A
as their preferred option.

Option 2A

Page 45

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(3)

Test Valley Borough Council Community Governance Review – Romsey
Town - Draft Recommendations
Summary of Responses and Draft Recommendations

Option Reference

3

Summary of Option

Group Romsey Town and Romsey Extra Parish under a common
parish council

Respondent Ref(s)
and Details

For
None

Summary of
Representations

Against
12 Romsey Extra Parish Council
For
None
Against
Romsey Extra Parish Council stated that the implications
of this option were not understood. It was not clear how this
would differ from Option 2 except inasmuch as the two
geographical areas would remain but under one council. It is
not clear if the Council would run separate budgets and levy
separate precepts for the two areas.
It concluded that it was not possible to assess this option
without further discussion.

Member Panel
Observations

The Member Panel noted that although this option would
bring both areas under a single council, the existing Romsey
Town/Romsey Extra Parish areas would still exist. Each
area would need to be allocated a number of councillors on
the common parish council, and decisions on how each area
should be warded (if at all) would be needed.
Each area would still need to hold an annual Parish
Meeting, emphasising the continued separate identity of the
two areas.
Against this, there would be a single council setting a single
precept and having one set of accounts. The assets, cash
reserves and liabilities would vest in the new common parish
council.

Option 3

1

Page 46

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(3)
The Panel also noted a NALC example in Dorset where a
common parish council created in 1954 was abolished and
the two parished areas merged, in recognition of the fact
that the division maintained by this arrangement was
unnecessary and unhelpful.
https://www.nalc.gov.uk/library/our-work/create-a-councilresources/1353-affpuddle-turnerspuddle-parish-councildorset-case-study/file
Moreover, because the grouped council covered two parishes, seven of
the nine Councillors had to be elected by Affpuddle and the other two
had to be elected by Turnerspuddle. This made little sense to local
people and it felt like an unnecessary division within the council. How
far did Councillors in one parish feel able to speak out about issues
arising in the other? I͞ t just seemed logical to get rid of this anomaly. We
have always considered this community to be Affpuddle and
Turnerspuddle.͟ – Parish Council Chairman

The Member Panel concluded that although this might be a
further step from the current joint working arrangements, a
full merger (Option 2/2A) was better than this option, which
would maintain the existing division in the built-up area
which is not reflected on the ground.
Accordingly, the Member Panel REJECTED this option 3.

Option 3

2

Page 47

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(4)

Test Valley Borough Council Community Governance Review – Romsey
Town - Draft Recommendations
Summary of Responses and Draft Recommendations

Option Reference
Summary of Option
Respondent Ref(s)
and Details

4

No change
For
1 Individual Romsey Extra resident
Against
12 Romsey Extra Parish Council

Summary of
Representations

FOR
Individual Romsey Resident 1 - resident of Romsey Extra
Parish for 25 years, and considers that the Parish Council
has served residents well during that time. Sees no need for
change to the current arrangements. Councillors are local
people who are familiar with, and take an interest in, the
parish and its people.
Romsey Extra Parish has existed for over 1000 years and
should not be swept away. It is the largest parish by area in
Test Valley, with fifth largest population, and there is
therefore no reason for it not to remain an independent
parish.
As residents outside the centre of Romsey, does not want to
see administration and services further centralised to the
town centre. Does not see themselves as living in the town.
AGAINST
Romsey Extra Parish Council rejects this option, as it
does not achieve the shared goals of Romsey Extra Parish
and Romsey Town Councils.

Member Panel
Observations

The Member Panel noted that only one representation
supported this option of no change to the current
arrangements.

Option 4

Page 48

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1(4)
The fact that an area has existed for a long historical period
does not, in the Panel’s view, mean that the statutory
considerations (identities and interests of the community,
and effective and convenient governance) are automatically
met. Moreover, the changes that have taken place in
Romsey Extra (particularly in terms of development around
Romsey) constitute good reason for change to the existing
governance.
Both Romsey Extra Parish and Romsey Town Councils
clearly wish to secure change, at least to have the built-up
area to be under one single council.
Taking the above into account, the Member Panel
REJECTED this option 4.

Option 4

Page 49

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 2
Test Valley Borough Council Community Governance Review – Romsey
Town - Draft Recommendations
Proposed Draft Recommendations
1. That the area of land shown coloured blue on Map 4 be transferred to Awbridge

Parish Council from Romsey Extra Parish Council.
2. That with the exception of the area of land shown coloured blue on Map 4, the
whole of Romsey Extra Parish be transferred to Romsey Town Council from
Romsey Extra Parish Council.
3. That Romsey Extra Parish Council be abolished.
4. That Romsey Town be warded in four wards, and the number of councillors to be
elected for each ward, be as follows:Ward Name

Extent

Abbey

The same boundaries as Romsey
Abbey Borough Ward
The same boundaries as Romsey
Cupernham Borough Ward
The same boundaries as Romsey
Tadburn Borough Ward
The remainder of Romsey Town

Cupernham
Tadburn
Romsey Extra

Number of
Councillors
4
6
4
1

5. That the year in which ordinary elections of councillors are to be held for Romsey
Town Council be 2023 and every fourth year thereafter.
6. That the consent of the Local Government Boundary Commission for England be
sought to the proposed changes where this is required.

Page 50

Braishfield
Parish
Michelmersh
Parish

-

ANNEX 3

Map 1 - Parishes in Romsey Area

Braishfield
Parish

Winchester
City
Council

Awbridge
Parish

Ampfield
Parish

Key
TVBC Borough
Town/Parish Council areas

Page 51

North Baddesley
Parish

Wellow
Parish

Romsey Extra
Parish
New Forest
District
Council

Nursling
And
Rownhams
Parish

Chilworth
Parish

Scale: 1:55,000
Date: 18/03/2022
Drawn: ITMAH
Dept: GIS IT
Doc:
© Crown copyright and database rights 2022
OS 100024295. You are permitted to use this
data solely to enable you to respond to, or
interact with, the organisation that provided
you with the data. You are not permitted to
copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this
data to third parties in any form.

Enlarged
Area

Southampton
City
Council

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Romsey
Town

ANNEX 3

Map 2 - Romsey Extra Parish/Romsey Town and Borough Wards

Key
TVBC Borough
Borough Wards (Romsey)

REPC

Town/Parish Council areas

Romsey Town Council area

REPC

Extra Parish
REPC Romsey
Council
RTC Romsey Town Council

RTC

Page 52

REPC

REPC

REPC

Scale: 1:55,000
Date: 18/03/2022
Drawn: ITMAH
Dept: GIS IT
Doc:
© Crown copyright and database rights 2022
OS 100024295. You are permitted to use this
data solely to enable you to respond to, or
interact with, the organisation that provided
you with the data. You are not permitted to
copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this
data to third parties in any form.

Enlarged
Area

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Romsey Extra Parish Council
area

ANNEX 3

Map 3 - Romsey Showing Parishes and Borough Wards

-

Mid Test Ward
Lockerley
Parish

Michelmersh
Parish

Mottisfont
Parish

Braishfield
Parish

Key

Ampfield & Braishfield Ward

Blackwater Ward

Page 53

Wellow
Parish

Borough Wards

Romsey
Cupernham
Ward
Romsey
Town
Romsey
Abbey
Ward

Romsey
Tadburn
Ward

Town/Parish Council areas

Ampfield
Parish

North
Baddesley
Ward

North Baddesley
Parish

Romsey Extra
Parish

Romsey Extra Parish Council
area
Romsey Town Council area

Valley
Park
Ward

Valley
Park
Parish

Chilworth
Parish

Chilworth, Nursling & Rownhams Ward
Nursling
And
Rownhams
Parish

Scale: 1:70,000
Date: 21/03/2022
Drawn: ITMAH
Dept: GIS IT
Doc:
© Crown copyright and database rights 2022
OS 100024295. You are permitted to use this
data solely to enable you to respond to, or
interact with, the organisation that provided
you with the data. You are not permitted to
copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this
data to third parties in any form.

Enlarged
Area

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Sherfield English
Parish

Awbridge
Parish

TVBC Borough

ANNEX 3

Map 4 - Awbridge - Romsey Extra

Michelmersh
Parish

-

Key
TVBC Borough
Town/Parish Council areas

Awbridge
Parish

Area Affected

Romsey Extra
Parish

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022
OS 100024295. You are permitted to use this
data solely to enable you to respond to, or
interact with, the organisation that provided
you with the data. You are not permitted to
copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this
data to third parties in any form.

Enlarged
Area

Romsey
Town

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Page 54
Scale: 1:12,500
Date: 21/03/2022
Drawn: ITMAH
Dept: GIS IT
Doc:

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 4
Test Valley Borough Council Community Governance Review – Romsey
Town - Draft Recommendations
Timetable

Action
Full Council to approve Terms of
Reference
Publication of terms of reference
(official start of review)
First period of consultation
Draft Recommendations to full
Council
Publication of Draft
Recommendations
Second period of consultation
Final Recommendations to full
Council
Preparation of community governance
order (if required)
Publication of recommendations
(official end of review)

Timescale
10 November 2021
11 November 2021
12 November 2021 – 28 January
2022 (11 weeks)
6 April 2022
8 April 2022
8 April – 3 June 2022 (8 weeks)
7 September 2022
September 2022
October 2022

Page 55

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 5

Test Valley Borough Council Community Governance Review – Romsey Town
- Draft Recommendations
Electoral Data
Table 1 – Current Parish Data
Awbridge (Existing)
Borough Ward/Polling
District

Properties

UL - Awbridge No.1
UL1 - Awbridge No.2
UL2 - Awbridge No.3

Electors

321
2
2
325

Awbridge Grand Total

616
1
4
621

Borough Ward
Blackwater
Blackwater
Blackwater
Blackwater

Romsey Town (Existing)
Borough Ward/Polling
District
Romsey Town

Properties

Electors

Borough Ward

11,684
Romsey Abbey
SA - Abbey No.1
SA1 - Abbey No.3
WA - Abbey No.2
Total

1,141
927
1,083

1,582
1,302
1,780
4664

Romsey Abbey
Romsey Abbey
Romsey Abbey

Romsey Cupernham
ST - Cupernham No.1
VP - Cupernham No.2
Total

1,132
542

2,003
954
2957

Romsey Cupernham
Romsey Cupernham

Romsey Tadburn
SB - Tadburn No.3
UU - Tadburn No.1
UV - Tadburn No.2
Total

637
1,119
639

983
1,986
1,094
4063

Romsey Tadburn
Romsey Tadburn
Romsey Tadburn

7,220

11,684

Romsey Town Grand
Total

Page 56

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 5

Romsey Extra Parish (Existing)
Borough Ward/Polling
Properties
District
Romsey Extra Parish

Electors

Borough Ward

4,645
Romsey Abbey
UJ1 - Romsey Extra No.6
Tital

67

114

Romsey Cupernham
UI - Romsey Extra No.3
UJ - Romsey Extra No.1
WB - Romsey Extra No.2
Total

990
20
1,053

1,737
29
1,801
3681

Romsey Tadburn
VI - Romsey Extra No.5
Total

300

591
591

Romsey Tadburn

Blackwater
UJ3 - Romsey Extra No.8 *
VW - Romsey Extra No.10
Total

181
1

300
0
300

Blackwater
Blackwater

48

73

Chilworth, Nursling and
Rownhams
UJ2 - Romsey Extra No.7
Total
Romsey Extra Parish
Grand Total

Romsey Abbey

Romsey Cupernham
Romsey Cupernham
Romsey Cupernham

Chilworth, Nursling and
Rownhams

73
2660

4645

* Part of Polling District UJ3 – Romsey Extra No. 8 is
proposed to be transferred to Awbridge – approximate
figures below.
UJ3 – Part to be transferred
to Romsey Town
UJ 3 - Part to be
transferred to Awbridge

109

191

Blackwater

72

109

Blackwater

Page 57

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 5
Table 2 – Parish Data (Draft Recommendations Implemented)
Awbridge Parish (Post CGR)
Borough Ward/Polling
District

Properties

UL - Awbridge No.1
UL1 - Awbridge No.2
UL2 - Awbridge No.3
UJ3 – (part from Romsey Extra)

Electors

321
2
2
72
397

Grand Total Awbridge
Post CGR

Borough Ward

616
1
4
109
730

Blackwater
Blackwater
Blackwater
Blackwater
Blackwater

Romsey Town (Post CGR)
Proposed Town
Ward/Polling District
Romsey Town

Properties

Electors

Borough Ward

11,684
Abbey
SA - Abbey No.1
SA1 - Abbey No.3
WA - Abbey No.2
UJ1 - Romsey Extra No.6
Total

1,141
927
1,083
67

1,582
1,302
1,780
114
4778

Romsey Abbey
Romsey Abbey
Romsey Abbey
Romsey Abbey

Cupernham
ST - Cupernham No.1
VP - Cupernham No.2
UI - Romsey Extra No.3
UJ - Romsey Extra No.1
WB - Romsey Extra No.2
Total

1,132
542
990
20
1,053

2,003
954
1,737
29
1,801
6524

Romsey Cupernham
Romsey Cupernham
Romsey Cupernham
Romsey Cupernham
Romsey Cupernham

Tadburn
SB - Tadburn No.3
UU - Tadburn No.1
UV - Tadburn No.2
VI - Romsey Extra No.5
Total

637
1,119
639
300

983
1,986
1,094
591
4654

Romsey Tadburn
Romsey Tadburn
Romsey Tadburn
Romsey Tadburn

109

191

1
48

0
73

Romsey Extra
UJ3 - Romsey Extra No.8
(after part transferred to
Awbridge)
VW - Romsey Extra No.10
UJ2 - Romsey Extra No.7
Total
Grand Total Romsey Town
(Post CGR)

264
15629

Page 58

Blackwater

Blackwater
Chilworth, Nursling and
Rownhams

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ITEM 12

Establishment of an Audit Committee

Report of the Democracy & Governance Portfolio Holder

Recommended:
1.

That an Audit Committee comprising six members be established with
effect from 18 May 2022.

2.

That the terms of reference for the Audit Committee, as set out in Annex
1 to the report, be approved.

3.

That appointments to the Audit Committee be confirmed at the Annual
Council meeting on 18 May 2022.

4.

That the Scheme of Members’ Allowances be amended to include
payment of Special Responsibility Allowances to the Chair and ViceChair of the Committee as set out at Paragraph 8 of this report.

5.

That the dates and times of the meetings for the Audit Committee, as set
out in Annex 3 to the report, be approved.

SUMMARY:


The report considers whether changes should be made to the Council’s
governance arrangements in light of a recent report from its external auditor.

1

Introduction

1.1

This report is presented to Council for consideration of whether it is
appropriate to make changes to the Council’s governance and reporting
arrangements, specifically with regard to the appropriateness of establishing
an Audit Committee.

2

Background

2.1

In recent years, there have been a number of high profile failures of local
authorities. These have highlighted the need for ensuring strong internal
governance arrangements are in place to prevent similar occurrences from
happening in other Councils. It is timely for the Council to consider its own
arrangements and decide whether there is an opportunity to strengthen them.

2.2

The Council’s current governance arrangements relating to audit are split
between two committees. The General Purposes Committee is responsible for
approving the annual accounts and the Audit Panel of the Overview &
Scrutiny Committee is responsible for oversight and delivery of the internal
audit plan and monitoring performance of the internal and external auditors. In
addition, risk management is currently reviewed separately by the Overview &
Scrutiny Committee.

Page 59

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

2.3

The current arrangements have been in place since 2011. A stand-alone
Audit Committee was established in November 2009 and had its first meeting
in March 2010. The Committee operated throughout 2010 and early 2011 but
following a self-assessment in 2011, a resolution was passed giving
responsibility for the Audit Committee function to a Panel of OSCOM and to
revert to the previous arrangement of obtaining approval for the Council’s
Statement of Accounts from the General Purposes Committee.
Government Review into the Oversight of Local Audit

2.4

In September 2020, the government published a report by Sir Tony Redmond
that considered the effectiveness of local audit and its ability to demonstrate
accountability for audit performance to the public.

2.5

The report was wide-ranging, focusing on a number of areas including;
procurement of audit services and audit performance; governance
arrangements; financial resilience; and financial reporting.

2.6

The report identifies that the majority of Councils have a single Audit
Committee that is responsible for all the governance arrangements described
above. This ensures consistency, independence and that Members on the
Committee can all have the necessary training needed.

2.7

The report also highlights that approximately 40% of audit committees include
an independent member. This is something the Council may wish to consider
for added independence (if a suitably qualified practitioner could be
appointed) but is not a requirement and is not recommended at this time. This
may be something that the Audit Committee wishes to consider after the new
arrangements have become established.
Auditor’s Recommendation

2.8

Ernst & Young have recently concluded the audit of the Council’s 2020/21
financial statements. In giving their opinion, they are also required to review
the arrangements the Council has for effectiveness in its use of resources and
for ensuring the internal control environment is efficient.

2.9

They have identified one area which has led to the following recommendation
being made in their Auditor’s Annual Report, which is copied below.
Establishment of an Audit Committee reporting to Council
There needs to be more clarity between the role of the Audit Panel (which
takes responsibility for audit and risk management issues and monitoring the
progress and performance of both Internal and External Audit) and that of the
Council's General Purposes Committee who are, “Those Charged with
Governance” and the designated Committee of the Council to approve the
Council's Annual Financial Statements. We recommended the establishment
of a separate Audit Committee, with a terms of reference and a work
programme in line with CIPFA good practice that meets in public each quarter
and has publicly available minutes (which the Audit Panel currently does not).

Page 60

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

This takes into account the expected direction of travel highlighted in the
independent Redmond review on the “Oversight of Local Audit and the
Transparency of Local Authority Financial Reporting.”
2.10

The above recommendation, coupled with the Redmond Review and publicity
surrounding the financial health and governance of local authorities across the
country has led to this report being prepared for Members’ consideration.
CIPFA Position Statement

2.11

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountancy (CIPFA) has published
a Position Statement on Audit Committees in Local Authorities along with
practical guidance notes.

2.12

Some of the key principles of the position statement are summarised below:




Audit Committees are a key component of an authority’s governance
framework.
Overseeing both internal and external audit it makes an important
contribution to ensuring that effective assurance arrangements are in
place.
Audit Committees should be independent of the scrutiny function and be
directly accountable to the authority’s governing body (full Council).

2.13

The detailed guidance also sets out the intrinsic relationship between risk
management and the focus of the Audit Committee on governance.
Understanding the management of risk is a fundamental part of the Council’s
Annual Governance Statement and in determining how to prioritise internal
audit resources in their annual plan.

2.14

Monitoring the effectiveness of risk management arrangements and a role in
embedding good practice will help to support Members’ understanding in their
role on the Audit Committee and embed good practice.

3

Consultation / Communications

3.1

In preparing this report, benchmarking with other local authorities in
Hampshire and our CIPFA comparable authorities has been undertaken.

3.2

The results of this show that almost all Councils have in place an Audit
Committee structure similar to the one being proposed. Only one Council
does not have a comparable Audit Committee arrangement.

3.3

The size of Audit Committee membership (in the Council’s neighbouring
district authorities) ranges from 6 to 11 Members, with an average of 8.
Meeting frequency ranges from 3 to 10 times per year with a tendency
towards quarterly meetings. The majority of authorities that were compared do
not have an independent member on their Audit Committee.

3.4

This report considers the establishment of an Audit Committee comprising six
Members. The Council’s previous Audit Committee also comprised this
number of Members.

Page 61

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

4

Corporate Objectives and Priorities

4.1

Strong and effective internal governance arrangements are critical to ensuring
that the Council is able to continue delivering essential public-facing services
and providing community leadership.

5

Options

5.1

There are many ways that the Council could establish its audit and
governance committee structure.

5.2

This report considers two options, which are:



6

Option 1 – retaining the current reporting arrangements
Option 2 – establishing an Audit Committee (recommended)

Option Appraisal
Option 1 – retaining the current reporting arrangements

6.1

The existing structure has been in place for approximately ten years,
throughout which time the Council has been able to fully discharge its
responsibilities for preparing and approving the annual statement of accounts;
internal audit plan; and all other matters within the remit of the Audit Panel.

6.2

However, there are clear splits in responsibilities between the different
committees that cannot be avoided. This is, perhaps, most notable in the role
that the Audit Panel has for receiving updates on the external audit plan and
audit progress reports, with the ultimate responsibility for approving the
statement of accounts being with General Purposes Committee who only
receive reports from the auditor at the time the accounts are presented for
approval.

6.3

Whilst this structure has been effective for the Council, it is not in accordance
with CIPFA’s position statement for Audit Committees in local authorities, nor
the recommendation of external auditors Ernst & Young.
Option 2 – establishing an Audit Committee (recommended)

6.4

A proposed Terms of Reference for the Audit Committee is shown in Annex 1
to the report. It brings together the main responsibilities of the Committee in a
format more aligned to the CIPFA guidance on Audit Committees.

6.5

This option also takes into account the recommendation that has been made
by Ernst & Young.

6.6

With a number of high-profile failures of Councils across the country in recent
years and the findings of the independent Redmond Review, it is quite
possible that the government will require changes to audit and governance
arrangements in Councils over the coming years. Taking the opportunity to
begin this process now will enable the Council to gain valuable experience
ahead of future changes being required.

Page 62

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

7

Risk Management

7.1

An evaluation of the risks indicate that the existing controls in place mean that
no significant risks have been identified at this time.

7.2

It is considered that the recommended option will strengthen the Council’s
overall approach to risk management by bringing together the responsibility
for risk management within the overall framework for the ongoing review of
internal controls.

8

Resource Implications

8.1

The recommended option does create a small budget pressure as a result of
the introduction of Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA) for the Chairman
and Vice-Chairman of the Audit Committee.

8.2

The SRA recommended by the Independent Review Panel (Annex 2) is that
the Chairman receive an SRA of 33% of the Basic Allowance of £7,390 and
the Vice-Chairman received 20% of the Chairman’s SRA.

8.3

The net additional cost of the SRAs is £2,930 per annum. This sum can be
contained within existing budgets.

8.4

Operation of these allowances can be reviewed as part of the next full
Members’ Allowances review in 2024, prior to the next scheme taking effect in
2025.

9

Legal Implications

9.1

Legislation requires a Council to make a Scheme for payment of allowances
to members and to have regard to the recommendations of an Independent
Remuneration Panel before making or amending Scheme. The Independent
Remuneration Panel has been consulted and their report is set out at Annex
2.

10

Equality Issues

10.1

No equality issues were identified in the preparation of this report.

11

Conclusion and reasons for recommendation

11.1

The report has been prepared pursuant to advice received from the Council’s
external auditors which identified an opportunity for the Council to strengthen
its arrangements for internal governance and reporting.

11.2

The recommendations in this report are in line with that advice and CIPFA’s
position statement on Audit Committees in Local Authorities.

Page 63

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Background Papers (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)
Redmond_Review.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk)
CIPFA Position Statement on Audit Committees in Local Authorities & guidance
notes
Confidentiality
It is considered that this report does not contain exempt information within the
meaning of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, and can
be made public.
No of Annexes:

3

File Ref: N/A

(Portfolio: Democracy & Governance) Councillor I Jeffrey
Officer:

Carl Whatley / Karen Dunn

Ext:

8540 / 8401

Report to:

Council

Date:

6 April 2022

Page 64

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 1
Audit Committee
Draft Terms of Reference
The Committee will be appointed by Council and will be entitled to make
recommendations and report directly to either the Cabinet or Council.
Audit Activity
To appoint the Council’s external Auditors
To set the Council’s Internal Audit Plan for each financial year, taking due
consideration of understood risks and resources available.
To consider the Internal Audit Manager’s annual report and opinion,
summary of internal audit activity undertaken and the level of assurance it
can give over the council’s corporate governance arrangements.
To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested.
To consider reports dealing with the management and performance of the
providers of internal audit services.
To consider reports from internal audit on agreed recommendations not
implemented within a reasonable timescale.
To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports, and the
report to those charged with governance.
To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor.
To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure
it gives value for money.
To commission work from internal and external audit.

(a)
(b)
(c)

(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)
(j)

Regulatory Framework
(a)

To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief
Executive or any council body.
To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management
and corporate governance in the council.
To monitor council policies on whistleblowing and the anti-fraud and anticorruption strategy and the council’s complaints process.
To oversee the production of the authority’s Annual Governance
Statement and to recommend its adoption.

(b)
(c)
(d)

Accounts

(a)

To review the annual statement of accounts, including consideration of
whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether
there are concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit that
need to be brought to the attention of the council.

(b)

To consider the external auditor’s report on issues arising from the audit of
the accounts.

Page 65

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 2
Test Valley Borough Council
INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL REPORT: PROPOSED AUDIT
COMMITTEE
12 March 2022
1. The Panel has been informed of the Council’s intention to set up an Audit
Committee from May 2022, and of its wish to pay Special Responsibility
Allowances to the Chair and Vice Chair of that Committee.
2. The establishment of this Committee is a direct response to an external audit
recommendation (made as part of the 2020/21 audit of the Council’s accounts),
to provide clarity in the responsibility for the audit function.
3. We were given the proposed duties of the Committee, which are substantial, so
that its Chair will carry the kinds of responsibilities which have led us to
recommend SRAs for other roles.
4. We accepted the view that it would not be fair to defer considering SRAs for the
Audit Committee roles until the next full review of member allowances in 2024, as
this would lead to a two year period where the roles were not being remunerated,
when other comparable roles were in receipt of SRAs.
5. We were reminded that our 2010 report had recommended the payment of an
SRA of 0.33% of the Basic Allowance for the Chair of the (then existing) Audit
Committee, with an SRA of 20% of that amount payable to the Vice Chair.
6. It was confirmed to us that the establishment of the Audit Committee would not
substantially affect the responsibilities of other roles currently in receipt of SRAs,
so that it would not be reasonable to seek to withdraw any other SRAs at this
point in time.
7. This left a position where the payment of two SRAs to the Chair and Vice-Chair
of the Audit Committee would lead to a total of 23 SRAs being paid. This is
marginally in excess of the guidance that no more than 50% of the 43 Council
members should be in receipt of an SRA. But, in our view, this is not enough to
warrant a full review of all SRAs being undertaken now, rather than in 2024 (as
already scheduled).

Page 66

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ANNEX 2
8. On this basis, the Panel concluded that it was not unreasonable for the Council
to pay SRAs to the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Audit Committee from May 2022,
with the SRA for the Chair set at 0.33% of the Basic Allowance and that for the
Vice Chair at 20% of the Chair’s SRA, subject to:
a. this being seen as a temporary solution until the next full IRP review of
member allowances in 2024; and
b. at the 2024 review, the Council being required to provide an update on the
Audit Committee’s workload. If that report justifies the continued payment
of SRAs to the Audit Committee roles, the Council would (with
recommendations from the IRP) need to address the issue of what other
changes can be made to bring the total number of SRAs to within the 50%
guidance.

Page 67

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Date

Meeting

ANNEX 3a
Time

Venue

Feb

10
16
17
18
22
23
25

Thursday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Friday

Licensing Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Cabinet
COUNCIL

5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

Andover
tbc
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Andover
Andover

Mar

2
9
10
11
14
15
29
30
30
31

Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Monday
Tuesday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday

Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Audit Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Special General Purposes Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
Cabinet
Northern Area Planning Committee

5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
4.00 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

Romsey
tbc
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Romsey
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Andover

Apr

1
5
6
7
14
15
18
20
21
22
26

Friday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Thursday
Friday
Monday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday

Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
COUNCIL
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Licensing Committee
GOOD FRIDAY
EASTER MONDAY
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee

2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

tbc
Romsey
Romsey
Andover
Andover

9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm

tbc
Andover
tbc
Romsey

Page 68

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Date
May

Meeting

ANNEX 3a
Time

Venue

2
10
11
12

Monday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Thursday

BANK HOLIDAY
Northern Viewing Panel
Cabinet
Northern Area Planning Committee

9.00 am
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

tbc
Andover
Andover

13

Friday

Southern Viewing Panel

2.00 pm

tbc

16
17
18
19

Monday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Thursday

Southern Area Planning Committee
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
ANNUAL COUNCIL
Licensing Committee

5.30 pm
5.30 pm
11.00 am
5.30 pm

Romsey
Andover
Andover
Andover

1
1
2
3
6
7
8
16
20
22
22
23
24
27
28
29

Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Monday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Monday
Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Monday
Tuesday
Wednesday

Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
BANK HOLIDAY
Additional BANK HOLIDAY
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
COUNCIL
Licensing Committee
Audit Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
Cabinet
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Budget Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

9.00 am
5.30 pm

tbc
Andover

2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

tbc
Romsey
Andover
Romsey
Romsey
tbc
Romsey
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey

Jul

4
13
14
15
19
21
25

Monday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Thursday
Monday

General Purposes Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Licensing Committee
Audit Panel

5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

Romsey
tbc
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey

Aug

3
3
4
5
9
10
18
24
25
26
29
30

Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Monday
Tuesday

Northern Viewing Panel
Cabinet
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Licensing Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
BANK HOLIDAY
Southern Area Planning Committee

9.00 am
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm

tbc
Romsey
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey
tbc
Andover
tbc

5.30 pm

Romsey

Jun

Page 69

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Date

Meeting

ANNEX 3a
Time

Venue

Sep

7
12
14
14
15
16
20
21
22
26
29

Wednesday
Monday
Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Monday
Thursday

COUNCIL
Budget Panel
Northern Viewing Panel
Cabinet
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Licensing Committee
Audit Committee
General Purposes Committee

5.30 pm
5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

Romsey
Andover
tbc
Andover
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Andover
Andover
Andover
Andover

Oct

5
6
7
11
20
26
26
27
28

Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Thursday
Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday

Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Licensing Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
Cabinet
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel

9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
2.00 pm

tbc
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Andover
tbc
Andover
Andover
tbc

Nov

1
2
16
16
17
18
22
24
28

Tuesday
Wednesday
Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Thursday
Monday

Southern Area Planning Committee
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
COUNCIL
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Licensing Committee
Audit Panel

5.30 pm
5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

Romsey
Andover
tbc
Andover
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey

Dec

7
7
8
9
12
13
14
22
25
26

Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Monday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Saturday
Sunday

Northern Viewing Panel
Cabinet
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Audit Committee
Southern Area Planning Committee
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Licensing Committee
CHRISTMAS DAY
BOXING DAY

9.00 am
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

tbc
Romsey
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey

Page 70

ANNEX 3b

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022
Date
Jan

Meeting

Time

Venue

2
4
5
6
10
12
16
17
18
23
25
25
26
27
31

Monday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Thursday
Monday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Monday
Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday

Bank Holiday
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Licensing Committee
General Purposes Committee
Budget Panel
Cabinet
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
COUNCIL
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee

9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm

tbc
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey
tbc
Romsey
Andover
tbc
Romsey

Feb

9
15
16
17
21
22
24

Thursday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Friday

Licensing Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Cabinet
COUNCIL

5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

Andover
tbc
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Andover
Andover

Mar

1
8
9
10
13
14
16
29
30
31

Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Monday
Tuesday
Thursday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday

Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Audit Panel / Audit Committee
Southern Area Planning Committee
Licensing Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel

5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm

Romsey
tbc
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey
tbc
Andover
tbc

Apr

4
5
7
10
12
13
17
19
19
20
21
25

Tuesday
Wednesday
Friday
Monday
Wednesday
Thursday
Monday
Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday

Southern Area Planning Committee
COUNCIL
GOOD FRIDAY
EASTER MONDAY
Cabinet
Licensing Committee
General Purposes Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee

5.30 pm
5.30 pm

Romsey
Romsey

5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm

Andover
Andover
Andover
tbc
Andover
Andover
tbc
Romsey

Page 71

ANNEX 3b

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022
Date
May

Meeting

Time

Venue

1
4
15
17
18
19
23
24
25
29
31

Monday
Thursday
Monday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Monday
Wednesday

BANK HOLIDAY
ELECTIONS
ANNUAL COUNCIL
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Cabinet
Licensing Committee
BANK HOLIDAY
Overview & Scrutiny Committee

11.00 am
9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

Romsey
tbc
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Andover
Andover

5.30 pm

Andover

Jun

7
7
8
9
13
19
22
28
29
30

Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Monday
Thursday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday

Northern Viewing Panel
COUNCIL
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Audit Committee
Licensing Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel

9.00 am
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm

tbc
Andover
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey
tbc
Andover
tbc

Jul

3
4
5
10
12
17
19
20
21
25
27

Monday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Monday
Wednesday
Monday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Thursday

Budget Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Cabinet
General Purposes Committee
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Audit Panel
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Licensing Committee

5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

Romsey
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey
tbc
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Romsey

Aug

9
10
11
15
16
23
24
28
30
31

Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Monday
Wednesday
Thursday

Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Cabinet
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Licensing Committee
BANK HOLIDAY
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee

9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

tbc
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey
Romsey

9.00 am
5.30 pm

tbc
Andover

Page 72

ANNEX 3b

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022
Date

Meeting

Time

Venue

Sep

1
5
6
20
21
22
25
26
27
28

Friday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Monday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Thursday

Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
COUNCIL
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
General Purposes Committee/Audit Committee
Southern Area Planning Committee
Cabinet
Licensing Committee

2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

tbc
Romsey
Romsey
tbc
Andover
tbc
Andover
Romsey
Andover
Andover

Oct

2
4
11
12
13
17
26

Monday
Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Thursday

Budget Panel
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Licensing Committee

5.30 pm
5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

Andover
Andover
tbc
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Andover

Nov

1
2
3
6
7
8
14
15
22
23
24
28
30

Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Monday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Tuesday
Wednesday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Thursday

Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Audit Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Cabinet
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
COUNCIL
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Licensing Committee

9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

tbc
Andover
tbc
Andover
Romsey
Andover
Andover
Andover
tbc
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Romsey

Dec

11
13
14
15
19
20

Monday
Wednesday
Thursday
Friday
Tuesday
Wednesday

Audit Committee
Northern Viewing Panel
Northern Area Planning Committee
Southern Viewing Panel
Southern Area Planning Committee
Cabinet

5.30 pm
9.00 am
5.30 pm
2.00 pm
5.30 pm
5.30 pm

Romsey
tbc
Andover
tbc
Romsey
Romsey

Page 73

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ITEM 13

Appointment of Independent Person

Report of the Democracy and Governance Portfolio Holder

Recommended:
That Mr Peter Reader be appointed as an Independent Person until 1 May 2026
pursuant to Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 and the Local Authorities
(Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2015.

SUMMARY:


Mr Peter Reader has been interviewed for the position of Independent Person
and is recommended for appointment.



The appointment must be approved by full Council.

1

Introduction

1.1

The Localism Act 2011 (the Act) changed the ethical framework applicable to
local authorities. The provisions came into force in 2012 and included the
requirement for the Council to appoint Independent Persons who can be
consulted in the case of allegations of failure to comply with the code of
conduct and who will be present at any meetings where breaches are
considered.

1.2

Furthermore, the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment)
Regulations 2015 which came into force in 2016 require the Council to
consider the advice, views or recommendations of a panel before taking the
decision to dismiss any of its Statutory Officers. The panel must include
Independent Persons.

1.3

Independent Person appointment must be approved by Council after the
recruitment process required by the Localism Act has been followed.

2

Background

2.1

The position of Independent Person has been advertised as required by the
Act. Mr Peter Reader submitted an application, was interviewed and it is
considered that he is eminently suitable for appointment.

3

Consultations/Communications

3.1

There were none as the process for appointment is a statutory process.

4

Options

4.1

Option 1 – To formally appoint Mr Reader.

Page 74

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

4.2

Option 2 – Not to confirm the appointment.

5

Option Appraisal

5.1

The Council wishes to make an appointment to the post of Independent
Person. A suitably experienced applicant has applied for the post. The
recommended option is therefore Option 1, that Mr Reader is appointed to the
post of Independent Person.

6

Risk Management

6.1

In respect of the recommended option, an evaluation of the risks indicate that
the existing controls in place mean that no significant risks have been
identified at this time.

7

Resource Implications

7.1

There are none, the Independent Person is an unremunerated post but travel
and subsistence expenses are paid which can be accommodated within
existing budgets.

8

Legal Implications

8.1

These have been dealt with above.

9

Equality Issues

9.1

No equality issues arise as a consequence of this report.

10

Other Issues

10.1

None identified.

11

Conclusion and reasons for recommendation

11.1

Mr Peter Reader is a suitable candidate for appointment as an Independent
Person and recommends his appointment.

Page 75

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

Background Papers (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)
None
Confidentiality
It is considered that this report does not contain exempt information within the
meaning of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, and can
be made public.
No of Annexes:

0

File Ref: N/A

(Portfolio: Democracy and Governance) Councillor I Jeffrey
Officer:

Karen Dunn

Ext:

8401

Report to:

Council

Date:

6 April 2022

Page 76

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

ITEM 14

Exclusion of the Public

Recommended:
That, pursuant to Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public
be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following reports on
the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in the following Paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as
amended, indicated below. The public interest in maintaining the exemption
outweighs the Public interest in disclosing the information for the reason given
below:

Contractual Matters

Paragraph 3

It is considered that this report contains exempt information within the meaning of
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, being
that the information relates to the financial or business affairs of any person
(including the authority holding that information). It is further considered that the
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing
the information.
Commitment of Planning Obligation funds

Paragraph 3

It is considered that this report contains exempt information within the meaning of
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended in that
it “contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular
person (including the authority holding that information)”. It is further considered that
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information.

Page 77

Test Valley Borough Council - Council - 6 April 2022

This page has intentionally been left blank.

Page 78

